



Authorized Self-Study Guide Cisco IP Telephony (CIPT)

Second Edition

Foundation Learning for CCVP IP Telephony

ciscopress.com

Jeremy Cioara, CCIE® No. 11,727

Authorized Self-Study Guide Cisco IP Telephony (CIPT) Second Edition

Jeremy D. Cioara, CCIE No. 11727

Cisco Press

800 East 96th Street Indianapolis, IN 46240 USA

Cisco IP Telephony (CIPT) (Authorized Self-Study Guide), Second Edition

Jeremy D. Cioara, CCIE No. 11727

Copyright© 2007 Cisco Systems, Inc.

Cisco Press logo is a trademark of Cisco Systems, Inc.

Published by: Cisco Press 800 East 96th Street Indianapolis, IN 46240 USA

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the publisher, except for the inclusion of brief quotations in a review.

Printed in the United States of America 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0

First Printing October 2006

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Number: 2006926698

ISBN: 1-58705-261-x

Warning and Disclaimer

This book is designed to provide information about the Cisco Unified CallManager 4.x platform as it relates to Cisco CIPT certification exam 642-444. Every effort has been made to make this book as complete and as accurate as possible, but no warranty or fitness is implied.

The information is provided on an "as is" basis. The authors, Cisco Press, and Cisco Systems, Inc., shall have neither liability nor responsibility to any person or entity with respect to any loss or damages arising from the information contained in this book or from the use of the discs or programs that may accompany it.

The opinions expressed in this book belong to the author and are not necessarily those of Cisco Systems, Inc.

The Cisco Press self-study book series is as described, intended for self-study. It has not been designed for use in a classroom environment. Only Cisco Learning Partners displaying the following logos are authorized providers of Cisco curriculum. If you are using this book within the classroom of a training company that does not carry one of these logos, then you are not preparing with a Cisco trained and authorized provider. For information on Cisco Learning Partners please visit: www.cisco.com/go/authorizedtraining. To provide Cisco with any information about what you may believe is unauthorized use of Cisco trademarks or copyrighted training material, please visit: http://www.cisco.com/logo/infringement.html.



Corporate and Government Sales

Cisco Press offers excellent discounts on this book when ordered in quantity for bulk purchases or special sales. For more information, please contact: U.S. Corporate and Government Sales 1-800-382-3419 corpsales@pearsontechgroup.com

For sales outside of the U.S. please contact: International Sales 1-317-581-3793 international@pearsontechgroup.com

Trademark Acknowledgments

All terms mentioned in this book that are known to be trademarks or service marks have been appropriately capitalized. Cisco Press or Cisco Systems, Inc., cannot attest to the accuracy of this information. Use of a term in this book should not be regarded as affecting the validity of any trademark or service mark.

Feedback Information

At Cisco Press, our goal is to create in-depth technical books of the highest quality and value. Each book is crafted with care and precision, undergoing rigorous development that involves the unique expertise of members from the professional technical community.

Readers' feedback is a natural continuation of this process. If you have any comments regarding how we could improve the quality of this book, or otherwise alter it to better suit your needs, you can contact us through e-mail at feedback@ciscopress.com. Please make sure to include the book title and ISBN in your message.

We greatly appreciate your assistance.

Publisher: Paul Boger

Cisco Representative: Anthony Wolfenden

Cisco Press Program Manager: Jeff Brady

Executive Editor: Brett Bartow

Production Manager: Patrick Kanouse

Development Editor: Andrew Cupp

Project Editor: Mandie Frank

Copy Editor: Karen Annett

Technical Editors: Michael Coffin, Dennis Hartmann, Larry Roberts, Kevin Wallace

Publishing Coordinator: Vanessa Evans

Cover and Book Designer: Louisa Adair

Composition: Mark Shirar

Indexer: Brad Herriman



Corporate Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. 170 West Tasman Drive San Jose, CA 95134-1706 USA www.cisco.com Tel: 408 526-4000 800 553-NETS (6387) Fax: 408 526-4100 European Headquarters Cisco Systems International BV Haarlerbergpark Haarlerbergweg 13-19 1101 CH Amsterdam The Netherlands www-europe.cisco.com Tel: 31 0 20 357 1000 Fax: 31 0 20 357 1100 Americas Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. 170 West Tasman Drive San Jose, CA 95134-1706 USA www.cisco.com Tel: 408 526-7660 Fax: 408 527-0883 Asia Pacific Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. Capital Tower 168 Robinson Road #22-01 to #29-01 Singapore 068912 www.cisco.com Tel: +65 6317 7777 Fax: +65 6317 7779

Cisco Systems has more than 200 offices in the following countries and regions. Addresses, phone numbers, and fax numbers are listed on the Cisco.com Web site at www.cisco.com/go/offices.

Argentina • Australia • Austria • Belgium • Brazil • Bulgaria • Canada • Chile • China PRC • Colombia • Costa Rica • Croatia • Czech Republic Denmark • Dubai, UAE • Finland • France • Germany • Greece • Hong Kong SAR • Hungary • India • Indonesia • Ireland • Israel • Italy Japan • Korea • Luxembourg • Malaysia • Mexico • The Netherlands • New Zealand • Norway • Peru • Philippines • Poland • Portugal Puerto Rico • Romania • Russia • Saudi Arabia • Scotland • Singapore • Slovakia • Slovenia • South Africa • Spain • Sweden Switzerland • Taiwan • Thailand • Turkey • Ukraine • United Kingdom • United States • Venezuela • Vietnam • Zimbabwe

Copyright © 2003 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. CCIP, CCSP, the Cisco Arrow logo, the Cisco Powered Network mark, the Cisco Systems Verified logo, Cisco Unity, Follow Me Browsing, FormShare, iQ Net Readiness Scorecard, Networking Academy, and ScriptShare are trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc.; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn, The Fastest Way to Increase Your Internet Quotient, and Quick Study are service marks of Cisco Systems, Inc.; and Aironet, ASIST, BPX, Catalyst, CCDR, CCDR, CCDR, CCNP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, the Cisco IOS logo, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Empowering the Internet Generation, EnterpriseSolver, EtherChannel, EtherSwitch, Fast Step, GigaStack, Internet Quotient, 103, IPTV, IQ Expertise, the IQ logo, LightStream, MGX, MICA, the Networkers logo, Network Registrar, *PacAet*, PIX, Post-Rouing, RateMUX, Registrar, SlideCast, SMARTnet, StrataView Plus, Stratm, SwitchProbe, TeleRouter, TransPath, and VCO are registered trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and certain other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or Web site are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (0303R)

Printed in the USA

About the Author

Jeremy D. Cioara, CCIE No. 11727, CCVP, MCSE, CNE, is the owner of AdTEC Networks and works as a network consultant, instructor, and author. He has been working in network technologies for more than a decade and has deployed networks worldwide. His current consulting work focuses on network and voice-over-IP (VoIP) implementations. Jeremy has written many books on Cisco network technology but has a true passion for educating individuals both in the classroom and through e-learning environments. Jeremy currently lives with his wife in Phoenix, AZ.

About the Technical Reviewers

Michael Coffin, CCIE No. 9789, is a technical marketing engineer at Cisco Systems and currently focuses his time on Cisco Mobility products. He began his career at Cisco in the Cisco Technical Assistance Center, where he worked on troubleshooting large service provider core networks. Then moved into the Cisco IP Communications Business Unit as a CallManager escalation engineer. Mike has contributed to several design guides and white papers, worked on supporting many large Cisco IP Telephony deployments, and often provides internal and external training around the world. Mike holds CCIE certifications in Routing & Switching, Service Provider, and Voice.

Dennis Hartmann, CCIE No. 15651, CCVP, CCIP, CCNP, MCSE, is a consultant for White Pine Communications. He has been a technical instructor teaching Cisco classes for Global Knowledge and providing network architecture work for customers. He teaches all of the classes associated with the CCVP certification, as well as all classes associated with the CCNP, CCIP, and optical specialist certifications.

Kevin Wallace, CCIE No. 7945, CCSI, CCVP, CCNP, CCDP, MCSE 4, CNE 4/5, is a full-time instructor for Thomson NETg. With 17 years of Cisco internetworking experience, Kevin has been a network design specialist for The Walt Disney World Resort and a network manager for Eastern Kentucky University. Kevin holds a bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering from the University of Kentucky. Among Kevin's publication credits are *Cisco Voice over IP (CVoice) Authorized Self-Study Guide*, Second Edition; *Voice over IP First-Step; CCDA/CCDP Flash Cards and Exam Practice Pack* (coauthored with Anthony Sequeira); *CCIE Routing and Switching Flash Cards and Exam Practice Pack* (coauthored with Anthony Sequeira); and *Cisco IP Telephony Flash Cards and Exam Practice Pack*, all of which are available from Cisco Press. Additionally, Kevin authored the *Cisco Enterprise Voice over Data Design* (EVODD) 3.3 course, was a contributing author for the *Cisco IP Telephony Troubleshooting* (IPTT) 2.0 course, and has written for *Packet* magazine from Cisco Systems. Kevin also holds the IP Telephony Design Specialist, IP Telephony Operations Specialist, and IP Telephony Support Specialist CQS certifications.

Dedications

First and foremost, I'd like to thank Jesus Christ who continues to bless me in every way and keeps me from killing myself by doing something stupid. You will always be at the core of everything I do. Second, to my darling wife, Susan: Thank you for your support through all these projects that keep me glued to a computer screen through all hours of the day and night. You are a more wonderful companion than I could have ever hoped for. I love you! To the cricket chirping in the room right now: I hate you. If I ever find you, I'm going to feed you to my fish and dance merrily around the room as they eat you slowly. To my cat, Snuggles: Thanks for being soft. To the dog, Buttercup: I have nothing to say to you at this time, but at least I've acknowledged your existence. To all my readers: Be warned; this is what happens to you after months of writing hundreds of pages.

Acknowledgments

I'd like to give special recognition to Kevin Wallace, Larry Roberts, Michael Coffin, and Dennis Hartman for providing their expert technical knowledge in editing the book. As usual, they're not afraid to tell you when you're wrong.

A big "thank you" goes out to the production team for this book. Brett Bartow and Andrew Cupp have been incredibly professional and a pleasure to work with. I couldn't have asked for a finer team.

Contents at a Glance

Foreword xxvi Introduction xxvii

Part I: Cisco CallManager Fundamentals 3

- Chapter 1 Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager 5
- Chapter 2 Cisco Unified CallManager Clustering and Deployment Options 17
- Chapter 3 Cisco Unified CallManager Installation and Upgrades 35
- Part II: IPT Devices and Users 51
- Chapter 4 Cisco IP Phones and Other User Devices 53
- Chapter 5 Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager to Support IP Phones 73
- Chapter 6 Cisco IP Telephony Users 101
- Chapter 7 Cisco Bulk Administration Tool 119
- Part III: IPT Network Integration and Route Plan 143
- Chapter 8 Cisco Catalyst Switches 145
- Chapter 9 Configuring Cisco Gateways and Trunks 161
- Chapter 10 Cisco Unified CallManager Route Plan Basics 187
- Chapter 11 Cisco Unified CallManager Advanced Route Plans 209
- Chapter 12 Configuring Hunt Groups and Call Coverage 235
- Chapter 13 Implementing Telephony Call Restrictions and Control 253
- Chapter 14 Implementing Multiple-Site Deployments 275
- Part IV: VoIP Features 307
- Chapter 15 Media Resources 309
- Chapter 16 Configuring User Features, Part 1 347
- Chapter 17 Configuring User Features, Part 2 377
- Chapter 18 Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager Attendant Console 409
- Chapter 19 Configuring Cisco IP Manager Assistant 437

- Part V: IPT Security 457
- Chapter 20 Securing the Windows Operating System 459
- Chapter 21 Securing Cisco Unified CallManager Administration 483
- Chapter 22 Preventing Toll Fraud 503
- Chapter 23 Hardening the IP Phone 523
- Chapter 24 Understanding Cryptographic Fundamentals 535
- Chapter 25 Understanding the Public Key Infrastructure 551
- **Chapter 26** Understanding Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption Fundamentals 573
- Chapter 27 Configuring Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption 597
- Part VI: IP Video 617
- Chapter 28 Introducing IP Video Telephony 619
- Chapter 29 Configuring Cisco VT Advantage 647
- Part VII: IPT Management 671
- Chapter 30 Introducing Database Tools and Cisco Unified CallManager Serviceability 673
- Chapter 31 Monitoring Performance 695
- Chapter 32 Configuring Alarms and Traces 713
- Chapter 33 Configuring CAR 737
- Chapter 34 Using Additional Management and Monitoring Tools 763
- Part VIII: Appendix 789
- Appendix A Answers to Review Questions 791
- Index 832

Contents

Foreword xxvi Introduction xxvii

Part I: Cisco CallManager Fundamentals 3

Chapter 1	Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager 5
	Cisco Unified Communications 6
	Understanding Cisco Unified CallManager 7
	Cisco Unified CallManager and IP Phone Interaction 8
	The Components of Cisco Unified CallManager 10
	Cisco Unified CallManager Servers 11
	Summary 12
	Review Questions 12
Chapter 2	Cisco Unified CallManager Clustering and Deployment Options 17 The Two Sides of the Cisco Unified CallManager Cluster 17 <i>The SOL Database Cluster</i> 17
	Intracluster Run-Time Data 18
	Cluster Redundancy Designs 19
	1:1 Redundancy Design 19
	2:1 Redundancy Design 21
	Call-Processing Deployment Models 23
	Single-Site Deployment 23
	Multisite Deployment with Centralized Call Processing 25
	Multisite Deployment with Distributed Call Processing 27
	Clustering over the IP WAN 30
	Summary 31
	Review Questions 32
Chapter 3	Cisco Unified CallManager Installation and Upgrades 35
	Cisco Unified CallManager 4.x Clean Installation Process 35
	Installation Disks 35
	Installation Configuration Data 36
	Sample Configuration Data Worksheet 38
	Postinstallation Procedures 40
	Activating Cisco Unified CallManager Services 41
	Upgrading Prior Cisco Unified CallManager Versions 45
	Summary 47
	Review Questions 47

Part II: IPT Devices and Users 51

Chapter 4	Cisco IP Phones and Other User Devices 53 Cisco IP Phones 53 Entry-Level Cisco IP Phones 54 Midrange and Upper-End Cisco IP Phones 56 Additional Cisco IP Telephony Endpoints 59 IP Phone Startup Process 64 Cisco IP Phone Codec Support 67 Summary 68 Review Questions 68	
Chapter 5	Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager to Support IP Phones Configuring Intracluster IP Phone Communication 73 <i>Removing DNS Reliance 73</i> <i>Configuring Device Pools 75</i> <i>Cisco Unified CallManager Group Configuration 79</i> <i>Date/Time Group Configuration 80</i> <i>Region Configuration 82</i> <i>Softkey Template Configuration 83</i> <i>IP Phone Button Templates 84</i> <i>Putting It All Together 87</i> IP Phone Configuration 87 <i>Manual IP Phone and Directory Number Configuration 87</i> <i>Automatic IP Phone Registration 90</i> Case Study: Device Pool Design 92 Summary 95 Review Questions 96	73
Chapter 6	 Cisco IP Telephony Users 101 Cisco CallManager User Database 101 Cisco CallManager User Configuration 102 Adding a User 102 Configuring Device Pools 104 User Logon and Device Configuration 105 CallManager User Options: Log On 105 CallManager User Options: Welcome 106 CallManager User Options: Call Forwarding 107 CallManager User Options: Speed Dials 108 CallManager User Options: Personal Address Book and Fast Dial 111 CallManager User Options: Message Waiting Lamp Policy 112 CallManager User Options: Locale Settings 113 Summary 115 Review Questions 115 	

Chapter 7	Cisco Bulk Administration Tool 119 The Cisco Bulk Administration Tool 119 BAT Components 120 BAT Installation 121 Adding Cisco IP Phones Using BAT 123 Using BAT Wizard Step 1: Choosing Devices 123 Using BAT Wizard Step 2: Device Specifics 124 Using BAT Wizard Step 3: Proceed with Task 125 Adding Phones Step 1: Configuring BAT Templates 126 Adding Phones Step 2: Creating CSV Files 128 Adding Phones Step 3: Validating Phones 131 Adding Phones Step 4: Inserting Phones 132 Updating IP Phones Using BAT 134 Using the Tool for Auto-Registered Phone Support 136 Summary 139 Review Questions 139
Part III: IP	T Network Integration and Route Plan 143
Chapter 8	Cisco Catalyst Switches 145 Catalyst Switch Role in IP Telephony 145 Powering the Cisco IP Phone 146 Two Types of PoE Delivery 146 PoE Device Detection 147 Catalyst Family of PoE Switches 148 Configuring PoE 150 Verifying PoE 151 Data and Voice VLANs 152 Configuring and Verifying Dual VLANs Using the CatOS 153 Configuring and Verifying Dual VLANs Using the NativeOS 153 Configuring Class of Service 155 Summary 156 Review Questions 157
Chapter 9	Configuring Cisco Gateways and Trunks 161 Cisco Gateway Concepts 161 Analog and Digital Gateways 161 Core Gateway Requirements 162 Gateway Communication Overview 163 Configuring Access Gateways 164 H.323 Gateway Configuration 165 Call Classification 167 MGCP Gateway Configuration 169 Non-IOS MGCP Gateway Configuration 172

Cisco Trunk Concepts 174 Configuring Intercluster Trunks 176 SIP and Cisco CallManager 179 SIP Components 179 CallManager SIP Integration and Configuration 181 Summary 183 Review Questions 183 Chapter 10 Cisco Unified CallManager Route Plan Basics 187 External Call Routing 187 Route Plan Configuration Process 189 Route Group Overview and Configuration 189 Route List Overview and Configuration 192 Route Pattern Concepts and Configuration 194 Route Pattern: Commonly Used Wildcards 197 Route Pattern Examples 199 Digit Analysis 200 Digit Collection 201 Closest Match Routing 201 Interdigit Timeout 202 Simple Route Plan Example 204 Summary 205 Review Questions 205 Cisco Unified CallManager Advanced Route Plans 209 Route Filters 209 Route Filter Tags 211 Configuring Route Filters 212 Applying Route Filters 214 Practical Route Filter Example 215 Discard Digit Instructions 217 Transformation Masks 219 Calling-Party Transformations 220 Called-Party Transformations 221 Configuring Calling- and Called-Party Transformation Masks 223 Transformation Example 224 Translation Patterns 226 Translation Pattern Configuration 226 Practical Use of a Translation Pattern 227 Route Plan Report 229 Summary 230 Review Questions 230

Chapter 11

xiv

Chapter 12	Configuring Hunt Groups and Call Coverage 235 Call Distribution Components 235 Line Groups 236 Call-Distribution Algorithms 237 Hunt Options 238 Call Distribution Scenarios: Top-Down Example 239 Hunting and Forwarding 240 Configuring Line Groups, Hunt Lists, and Hunt Pilots 241 Configuring Line Groups 242 Configuring Hunt Lists 243 Configuring Hunt Pilots 245 Summary 247 Review Questions 247
Chapter 13	Implementing Telephony Call Restrictions and Control 253 Class of Service Overview 253 Partitions and Calling Search Spaces Overview 254 Calling Search Spaces Applied to Gateways and Intercluster Trunks 256 Partition Configuration 256 Calling Search Space Configuration 258 Time-of-Day Routing Overview 260 Time Periods 260 Time Schedule 261 Time-of-Day Routing Effect on Users 262 Configuring Time Periods 263 Configuring Time Schedules 265 Applying Time Schedules 266 Time-of-Day Routing Usage Scenario 268 Summary 270 Review Questions 270
Chapter 14	Implementing Multiple-Site Deployments 275 Call Admission Control 275 Locations-Based Call Admission Control 276 Configuring Location-Based Call Admission Control 278 AAR Overview 280 Configuring AAR 282 Gatekeeper-Based Call Admission Control 288 Gatekeeper-Based Call Admission Control 288 Gatekeeper-Based Call Admission Control 293 Survivable Remote Site Telephony 296 SRST Router Configuration 298 SRST Reference Configuration 300 Summary 301 Review Questions 302

Part IV: Vo	IP Features 307
Chapter 15	Media Resources 309
	Introduction to Media Resources 309
	Conference Bridge Resources 310
	Conference Bridge Hardware 311
	Conference Bridge Hardware CallManager Configuration 315
	Media Termination Point Resources 316
	MTP Configuration 318
	Annunciator Resources 319
	Annunciator Configuration 320
	Transcoder Resources 321
	Transcoder Configuration 323
	Music on Hold Resources 324
	Creating Audio Source Files 326
	Configuring MoH 327
	Step 1: Configure the Audio Translator 327
	Step 2: Configure the MoH Server 329
	Step 3: Add and Configure Audio Source Files 330
	Step 4: Set MoH Servicewide Settings 331
	Step 5: Find and Configure the Fixed Audio Source 332
	Step 6: Assigning Audio Source IDs 334
	Media Resource Management 335
	Media Resource Design 335
	Media Resource Groups 336
	Media Resource Group Configuration 337
	Media Resource Group List Configuration 338
	Assigning Media Resource Group Lists 339
	MRGL Design Strategy: Grouping Resources by Type 340
	MRGL Design Strategy: Grouping Resources by Location 340
	Summary 342
	Review Questions 342
Chapter 16	Configuring User Features, Part 1 347
	Basic IP Phone Features 347
	Speed Dial and Abbreviated Dial Configuration 348
	Auto Answer Configuration 349
	Call Forward and Configurable Call Forward Display Configuration 349
	Softkey Templates 351
	Adding Softkey Templates 352
	Modifying Softkey Availability and Positioning 353
	Assigning Softkey Templates to Devices 354
	Deleting Softkey Templates 355
	Enhanced IP Phone Features 355
	Multiple Calls per Line Appearance 355
	Direct Transfer 357

Call Join 358 Immediate Divert to Voice Mail 358 Call Park 359 Call Pickup and Group Call Pickup 360 Other Group Call Pickup 361 Call Pickup Configuration 361 AutoCall Pickup 362 Cisco Call Back 364 Barge and Privacy 365 Configuring Barge 366 Configuring Privacy 367 IP Phone Services 368 Configuring IP Phone Services 369 Services Phone Display Examples 372 Summary 373 Review Ouestions 373 Chapter 17 Configuring User Features, Part 2 377 Cisco CallManager Extension Mobility 377 Extension Mobility Example 377 Configuring Extension Mobility 378 Cisco CallManager Extension Mobility Service Parameters 381 Configuring a Default Device Profile 382 Configuring User Device Profiles 383 Associating Users with Device Profiles 384 Creating the Extension Mobility Service 386 Updating Cisco IP Phones to Add Extension Mobility Support 387 Client Matter Codes and Forced Authentication Codes 389 FAC Concepts 389 CMC Concepts 391 FAC and CMC Configuration 392 Creating CMC Codes 392 Creating FAC Codes 393 Enabling Route Patterns for FAC and CMC 394 Call Display Restrictions 395 Understanding Calling Line ID Presentation 396 Understanding Connected Line ID Presentation 397 Understanding Ignore Presentation Indicators 397 Configuring Caller ID Restrictions 398 Malicious Call Identification 399 Configuring MCID 399 Configuring CallManager to Support CDRs 400 Configuring MCID Alarms 401 Adding the MCID Softkey 402

Multilevel Precedence and Preemption 403 Summary 405 Review Questions 405

Chapter 18	Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager Attendant Console 409
	Introduction to Cisco CallManager Attendant Console 409
	Terms and Definitions 411
	The Telephony Call Dispatcher and Attendant Console Directory 411
	Cisco Telephony Call Dispatcher 411
	Cisco CallManager Attendant Console Directory 412
	Pilot Points and Hunt Groups 413
	Call Routing and Call Queuing 414
	Call Routing 414
	Call Queuing 415
	Server and Administration Configuration 416
	Adding Attendant Console Users 416
	Adding the "ac" User 417
	Pilot Point Configuration 419
	Hunt Group Configuration 420
	Activating Cisco TCD and CTIManager Services 423
	Using the Attendant Console Configuration Tool 424
	Installing and Configuring the Attendant Console Client 425
	Cisco Attendant Console Features 426
	Attendant Console GUI: Call Control 428
	Attendant Console GUI: Custom Speed Dials 429
	Attendant Console GUI: Directory Lookup 430
	Attendant Console GUI: Parked Calls 430
	Attendant Console GUI: Broadcast Calls 431
	Summary 432
	Review Questions 432
Chapter 19	Configuring Cisco IP Manager Assistant 437
	Cisco IP Manager Assistant Overview 437
	Cisco IPMA with Proxy-Line Support 438
	Cisco IPMA with Shared-Line Support 438
	Cisco IP Manager Assistant Architecture 130
	Configuring Cisco IDMA for Shared Line Support 440
	IDMA Step 1: Activative the Ciaco IDMA Service 440
	IPMA Step 1: Activating the Cisco IPMA Service 441
	IPMA Step 2. Configuring Service Furumeters 442
	IPMA Step 5. Restarting the Cisco II MA Service 444
	IDMA Step 5. Configuring Call Divert Target 140
	IDMA Step 5. Conjiguring Cui Diveri Lurger 449 IDMA Step 6. Installing the IDMA Assistant Consola 450
	Summon 452
	Summary 433
	keview Questions 455

Part V: IPT Security 457

Chapter 20	Securing the Windows Operating System 459
	Threats Targeting the Operating System 459
	Lowering the Threats in Windows Operating System 460
	Security and Hot Fix Policy 461
	Operating System Hardening 463
	IP Telephony Operating System Security Scripts 464
	File-Sharing Considerations 467
	Antivirus Protection 467
	Cisco Security Agent 468
	Cisco Security Headless Agent 469
	Cisco Security Managed Agent 469
	CSA Supported Applications 470
	CSA Protection 471
	CSA Guidelines 471
	Administrator Password Policy 472
	Account and Password Considerations 474
	Common Windows Exploits 475
	Security Taboos 476
	Summary 478
	Review Questions 479
Chapter 21	Securing Cisco Unified CallManager Administration 483
	Threats Targeting Remote Administration 483
	Securing CallManager Communications Using HTTPS 483
	HTTPS Certificates 484
	Accessing CallManager When Using Self-Signed Certificates 485
	Multilevel Administration 487
	Enabling MLA 488
	MLA Functional Groups 489
	MLA User Groups 490
	Assigning MLA Access Privileges 491
	Creating New MLA Functional and User Groups 492
	Summary 499
	Review Questions 500
Chapter 22	Preventing Toll Fraud 503
	Toll Fraud Exploits 503
	Preventing Call Forward and Voice-Mail Toll Fraud Using Calling Search Spaces 505
	Blocking Commonly Exploited Area Codes 507
	Using Time-of-Day Routing 509
	Using FAC and CMC 510

:6

PKI Revocation and Key Storage 561 PKI Revocation Methods 562 Key Storage 562 Smart Cards and Smart Tokens 563 PKI Example 563 PKI and SSL/TLS 563 Web Server Certificate Exchange 564 Summary 568 Review Questions 568 **Chapter 26** Understanding Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption Fundamentals 573 Threats Targeting the IP Telephony System 573 How CallManager Protects Against Threats 574 Secure Signaling and Media Transfer 574 Authentication of Phone Images 575 Authentication of Phone Configuration Files 576 PKI Topologies in Cisco IP Telephony 576 Self-Signed Certificates PKI Topology 577 Manufacturing Installed Certificates PKI Topology 577 Locally Significant Certificates PKI Topology 578 Independent, Separated PKI Topology 579 CTL Client 580 CTL Client Application 581 CTL Verification on the IP Phone 582 Initial Deployment Issue 582 PKI Enrollment in Cisco IP Telephony 583 CAPF Acting as a CA 583 CAPF Acting as a Proxy to an External CA 584 Keys and Certificate Storage in Cisco IP Telephony 585 Authentication and Integrity 585 Certificate Exchange in TLS 586 Server-to-Phone Authentication 586 Phone-to-Server Authentication 587 TLS SHA-1 Session Key Exchange 588 Encryption 588 TLS AES Encryption 589 SRTP Media Encryption 589 SRTP Packet Format 590 Secure Call Flow Summary 591 Summary 591 Review Questions 592

Chapter 27 Configuring Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption 597

Authentication and Encryption Configuration Overview 597

Enabling Services Required for Security 599

Using the CTL Client 600

Installing the CTL Client 600

Working with Locally Significant Certificates 602
Issuing a Phone Certificate Using an Authentication String 605
Issuing a Phone Certificate Using the CAPF 607
Configuring the Device Security Mode 607
Negotiating Device Security Mode 608
Generating a CAPF Report 609
Summary 611

Review Questions 612

Part VI: IP Video 617

Chapter 28 Introducing IP Video Telephony 619 IP Video Telephony Solution Components 619 Video Call Concepts 621 Cisco CallManager Involvement in Video Calls 621 Video Call Flow 622 Video Codecs Supported by Cisco CallManager 623 Video Protocols Supported in Cisco CallManager 624 SCCP Video Call Characteristics 626 H.323 Video Call Characteristics 627 SCCP and H.323 in Cisco CallManager 628 Bandwidth Management 628 Video Call Bandwidth Requirement 629 Calculating the Total Bandwidth 630 Actual Bandwidth Used Per Video Call 630 Call Admission Control in Cisco CallManager 631 Call Admission Control Within a Cluster 632 Region Configuration 634 Location Configuration 635 Call Admission Control Example 637 Retry Video Call as Audio 638 Call Admission Control Between Clusters 640 Gatekeeper Call Admission Control Options 641 Gatekeeper Call Admission Control Example 642 Summary 643 Review Questions 644

Chapter 2	9 Configuring Cisco VT Advantage 647 Cisco VT Advantage Overview 647
	Cisco VT Advantage Components 647
	Cisco VT Advantage Supported Standards 648
	Protocols Used by Cisco VT Advantage 649
	How Calls Work with Cisco VT Advantage 651
	Cisco VT Advantage Video Modes 652
	Configuring Cisco CallManager for Video 653
	Call-Routing Considerations 654
	VT Advantage Deployment Tool 655
	Configuring Cisco IP Phones for Cisco VT Advantage 657
	Verifying Phone Loads 657
	Configuring IP Phones to Support Video 658
	Verification of Phone Configuration 661
	Installing Cisco VT Advantage on a Client 661
	Cisco VT Advantage Hardware and Software Requirements 661
	Cisco VT Advantage Installation Preparation Checklist 662
	Installing Cisco VT Advantage 663
	Cisco VT Advantage Installation Verification 665
	Summary 667
	Review Questions 668
Part VII: I	PT Management 671

Chapter 30 Introducing Database Tools and Cisco Unified CallManager Serviceability 673

Database Management Tools 673 Database Management Tools Overview 674 Microsoft SQL Server 2000 Enterprise Manager 674 DBLHelper 677 Cisco CallManager Serviceability Overview 678 Serviceability Components 678 Alarm 679 Trace 680 Tools 681 Application 683 Help 684 Control Center 684 Service Activation 686 Tools Overview 688 Summary 690 Review Questions 691

xxiii

700

Chapter 31	Monitoring Performance 695
-	Performance Counters 695
	Performance Analysis 696
	Microsoft Event Viewer 697
	Microsoft Performance Monitor 699
	Microsoft Performance Monitor Report View 699
	Microsoft Performance Monitor Graph and Histogram View
	Microsoft Windows Task Manager 702
	Real-Time Monitoring Tool Overview 702
	Real-Time Monitoring Tool Configuration Profiles 704 Using the Real-Time Monitoring Tool Effectively 705 Viewing Call Activity 706 Using Device Search 707 Visiting Alert Central 707
	Summary 708
	Review Questions 709
Chapter 32	Configuring Alarms and Traces 713
	Alarm Overview 713
	Alarm Configuration 714
	Configuring Alarms 715
	Configuring Alarms for Java Applications 716
	Alarm Details 717
	Trace Configuration 719
	Types of Traces 720
	Trace Configuration and Analysis Overview 720
	Trace Configuration 721
	Enabling Clusterwide Trace Settings 725
	Trace Collection 729
	The Trace Collection Tool 720
	Rulk Trace Analysis 730
	Bulk Trace Analysis Features 730
	Using Bulk Trace Analysis 731
	Additional Trace Tools 732
	Summary 733
	Review Questions 733
Chapter 33	Configuring CAR 737
	CAR Overview 737
	CDRs and CMRs 737
	CAR Users 739
	CAR Report Types and User Levels 740
	CAR Configuration 740

Initial Configuration 741 CAR System Parameter Menu Configuration Administration Rights and Mail Parameters 743 Dial Plan Configuration 744

Gateway and System Preferences 746

742

Report Scheduling 748

Managing the CDR Load 749

Configuring the Schedulers 750 System Database Configuration 752

CDR and CAR Database Alerts 753

Database Purges 754

User Report Configuration 756

Viewing the Report 757

Sending the Report 757

Summary 758

Review Questions 759

Chapter 34 Using Additional Management and Monitoring Tools 763

Remote Management Tools 763 CiscoWorks ITEM Overview 763 Simple Network Management Protocol 764 SNMP Basics 765 SNMP Configuration on Cisco CallManager 766 Syslog Overview 769 Syslog Configuration in Cisco CallManager 769 Dependency Records 771 Enabling Dependency Records 771 Accessing Dependency Records 772 Password Changer Tool 774 Using the Password Changer Tool 775 Cisco Dialed Number Analyzer 776 Installing Cisco Dialed Number Analyzer 777 Using the Cisco Dialed Number Analyzer 778 Quality Report Tool 780 Activating the QRT Softkey 781 Viewing QRT Logs 782 Summary 785 Review Questions 786

Part VIII: Appendix 789

Appendix A Answers to Review Questions 791

Index 832

Icons Used in This Book



Command Syntax Conventions

The conventions used to present command syntax in this book are the same conventions used in the IOS Command Reference. The Command Reference describes these conventions as follows:

- Boldface indicates commands and keywords that are entered literally as shown. In actual configuration examples and output (not general command syntax), boldface indicates commands that are manually input by the user (such as a show command).
- *Italic* indicates arguments for which you supply actual values.
- Vertical bars (I) separate alternative, mutually exclusive elements.
- Square brackets [] indicate optional elements.
- Braces { } indicate a required choice.
- Braces within brackets [{ }] indicate a required choice within an optional element.

Foreword

Cisco IP Telephony (CIPT), Second Edition is an excellent self-study resource for the CCVP CIPT exam. Whether you are studying to become CCVP certified or are simply seeking to gain a better understanding of VoIP and PSTN components and technologies, you will benefit from the information presented in this book.

Cisco Press Self-Study Guide titles are designed to help educate, develop, and grow the community of Cisco networking professionals. As an early-stage exam preparation product, this book presents a detailed and comprehensive introduction to the technologies used to install, configure, and support Cisco CallManager 4.1 in a Cisco network, including such features as security and video. Developed in conjunction with the Cisco certifications team, Cisco Press books are the only self-study books authorized by Cisco Systems.

Most networking professionals use a variety of learning methods to gain necessary skills. Cisco Press self-study titles are a prime source of content for some individuals and can also serve as an excellent supplement to other forms of learning. Training classes, whether delivered in a classroom or on the Internet, are a great way to quickly acquire new understanding. Hands-on practice is essential for anyone seeking to build, or hone, new skills. Authorized Cisco training classes, labs, and simulations are available exclusively from Cisco Learning Solutions Partners worldwide. Please visit http://www.cisco.com/go/training to learn more about Cisco Learning Solutions Partners.

I hope and expect that you'll find this guide to be an essential part of your exam preparation and a valuable addition to your personal library.

Don Field Director, Certifications Cisco Systems, Inc. August 2006

Introduction

Professional certifications have been an important part of the computing industry for many years and will continue to become more important. Many reasons exist for these certifications, but the most popularly cited reason is that of credibility. All other considerations held equal, the certified employee/consultant/job candidate is considered more valuable than one who is not.

Goals and Methods

The most important and somewhat obvious goal of this book is to help you pass the Cisco IP Telephony (CIPT) exam (642-444). In fact, if the primary objective of this book was different, then the book's title would be misleading; however, the methods used in this book to help you pass the CCVP Cisco IP Telephony exam are designed to also make you much more knowledgeable about how to do your job. Although this book has more than enough questions to help you prepare for the actual exam, the method in which they are used is not to simply make you memorize as many questions and answers as you possibly can.

One key methodology used in this book is to help you discover the exam topics that you need to review in more depth, to help you fully understand and remember those details, and to help you prove to yourself that you have retained your knowledge of those topics. So, this book does not try to help you pass by memorization, but helps you truly learn and understand the topics. The Cisco IP Telephony exam is just one of the foundation topics in the CCVP certification and the knowledge contained within is vitally important to consider yourself a truly skilled voice engineer or specialist. This book would do you a disservice if it didn't attempt to help you learn the material.

Who Should Read This Book?

This book is not designed to be a general networking topics book, although it can be used for that purpose. This book is intended to tremendously increase your chances of passing the CCVP Cisco IP Telephony exam. Although you will achieve other objectives from using this book, the book is written with one goal in mind: to help you pass the exam.

The placement of CallManager in the CCVP series of exams is unique in that it could be one of the very first CCVP exams you take, or it could be one of the last. It stands as an isolated product in the CCVP series of exams. This means you could be getting into this book with an extensive knowledge of voice gateways, switches, and quality of service (from reading the CVOICE and/or QoS books) with a basic CCNA-level knowledge. Regardless, your learning curve will be the same; CallManager is configured differently, troubleshot uniquely, and managed distinctively from the rest of the voice network.

So why should you want to pass the CCVP Cisco IP Telephony exam? Because it is one of the milestones toward getting the CCVP certification; no small feat in itself. What would getting the

xxviii

CCVP mean to you? A raise, a promotion, recognition? How about to enhance your résumé? To demonstrate that you are serious about continuing the learning process and that you are not content to rest on your laurels. To please your reseller-employer, who needs more certified employees for a higher discount from Cisco. Or one of many other reasons.

How This Book Is Organized

Although this book could be read from cover to cover, it is designed to be flexible and allow you to easily move between chapters and sections of chapters to cover just the material that you need more work with. If you do intend to read them all, the order in the book is an excellent sequence to use.

The chapters cover the following topics:

Chapter 1, "Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager"—This chapter provides an overview of the Cisco Unified Communications (AVVID) strategy, how the Cisco Unified CallManager product suite fits into the scheme, the interaction between CallManager and Cisco IP Phones, and the CallManager server platforms.

Chapter 2, "Cisco Unified CallManager Clustering and Deployment Options"—This chapter discusses the design strategies behind a Cisco CallManager cluster, cluster replication, and CallManager deployment models.

Chapter 3, "Cisco Unified CallManager Installation and Upgrades"—This chapter covers the requirements to perform a CallManager server installation, the CallManager installation and upgrade process, and postinstallation procedures.

Chapter 4, "Cisco IP Phones and Other User Devices"—This chapter examines the basic features of all Cisco IP Phones, the entry-level, midrange, and upper-end Cisco IP Phone models, the IP Phone startup process, and audio codec communication.

Chapter 5, "Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager to Support IP Phones"—This chapter examines the configuration of Cisco CallManager to support IP Phone registration and communication within a cluster, the creation of device pools, and manually or automatically registering Cisco IP Phones with the SQL Database.

Chapter 6, "Cisco IP Telephony Users"—This chapter covers the addition of IP telephony users to the CallManager LDAP database, associating users with devices, and allowing users to access the User Options web page to configure common features.

Chapter 7, "Cisco Bulk Administration Tool"—This chapter covers the features and components of the BAT application, the installation of BAT, and the configuration of BAT to apply bulk moves, adds, and changes to the Cisco CallManager cluster.

Chapter 8, "Cisco Catalyst Switches"—This chapter examines the functions that Catalyst switches perform in a Cisco IP telephony solution, the three options for powering Cisco IP Phones, the two types of power supplied by PoE switches, inline power configuration, dual VLAN configuration, and CoS configuration.

Chapter 9, "Configuring Cisco Gateways and Trunks"—This chapter discusses the role of the gateway in the IP telephony infrastructure, core gateway requirements, and gateway communication protocols; it also examines the configuration of analog and digital gateways, Cisco CallManager trunk configuration, and enabling the CallManager to use SIP capabilities.

Chapter 10, "Cisco Unified CallManager Route Plan Basics"—This chapter covers the fundamentals of the Cisco CallManager route plan, including the identification of the route plan building blocks, the configuration of route groups, route lists, and route patterns, and the design of a basic route plan.

Chapter 11, "Cisco Unified CallManager Advanced Route Plans"—This chapter covers the concepts and configurations behind route filters, digit discard instructions, transformation masks, translation patterns, and route plan reports.

Chapter 12, "Configuring Hunt Groups and Call Coverage"—This chapter examines the call distribution components and algorithms supported by CallManager; examines call hunting concepts; discusses the concepts and configurations of line groups, hunt lists, and hint pilots; and provides a scenario-based design discussion for hunting and forwarding calls.

Chapter 13, "Implementing Telephony Call Restrictions and Control"—This chapter discusses the concepts behind class of service as it relates to users of a phone system; it also covers the design and configuration of partitions, calling search spaces, and time-of-day routing.

Chapter 14, "Implementing Multiple-Site Deployments"—This chapter discusses why call admission control is important to maintain voice QoS across an IP WAN; describes the Cisco CallManager locations feature and how it provides the necessary call admission control for centralized call-processing environments; and explains the concepts and configurations behind locations, H.323 gatekeepers, and SRST.

Chapter 15, "Media Resources"—This chapter examines the necessary Cisco CallManager resources you should use as media resources, the configuration of conference bridges, media termination points, transcoders, and music on hold.

Chapter 16, "Configuring User Features, Part 1"—This chapter discusses the core Cisco IP Phone features supported by Cisco CallManager along with the enhanced IP Phone features configurable by an administrator; this chapter also examines the configuration of softkey templates, call park, call pickup, call back, barge, shared line appearances, and IP Phone services.

Chapter 17, "Configuring User Features, Part 2"—This chapter covers the configuration of the Cisco CallManager Extension Mobility service, FAC and CMC call accounting and restrictions, call display restrictions, malicious caller ID, and multilevel precedence and preemption.

Chapter 18, "Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager Attendant Console"—This chapter explains the functions and features of the Cisco CallManager Attendant Console application, and defines the key Attendant Console components and redundancy process. This chapter also covers the configuration of the Cisco CallManager server to support the Attendant Console and the client-side Attendant Console installation and configuration.

Chapter 19, "Configuring Cisco IP Manager Assistant"—This chapter covers the features of Cisco IPMA and the two modes of operation, the IPMA components, and the configuration of Cisco IPMA for shared-line mode installations.

Chapter 20, "Securing the Windows Operating System"—This chapter examines the security threats to the Windows operating system, the Cisco security and hotfix policy, the included enhanced security scripts, and the antivirus protection options for the CallManager server. This chapter also covers the suggested administrative password policy, the protection of the server from common exploits, the Cisco Security Agent, and the not-recommended security settings for the Cisco CallManager server.

Chapter 21, "Securing Cisco Unified CallManager Administration"—This chapter discusses the threats targeting remote Cisco CallManager Administration and other applications, the function of HTTPS in remote communication, the HTTP certificate operations, and the CallManager multilevel administration configuration.

Chapter 22, "Preventing Toll Fraud"—This chapter examines the vulnerability of legitimate devices to be used for fraudulent use in the IP telephony network, the use of partitions and calling search spaces to restrict call forwarding, the blocking of specific area codes, the configuration of CallManager to route calls based on time-of-day, the implementation of FAC to implement user authorization, and the restriction of conference call features to limit toll fraud.

Chapter 23, "Hardening the IP Phone"—This chapter covers the potential threats against IP Phones and the attack tools and methods a hacker can use, signed firmware images, CallManager IP Phone security techniques, and IP Phone authentication and encryption.

Chapter 24, "Understanding Cryptographic Fundamentals"—This chapter discusses the foundations of cryptography and the four cryptographic services, basic operation and uses for symmetric and asymmetric encryption algorithms, hashing, and digital signatures.

Chapter 25, "Understanding the Public Key Infrastructure"—This chapter examines the problem of secure, scalable distribution of public keys, the concepts behind a trusted introducer, certificates, CAs, certification paths, certificate enrollment, and certificate revocation.

Chapter 26, "Understanding Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption Fundamentals"—This chapter explains how file manipulation, tampering with call signaling, man-in-the-middle attacks, eavesdropping, and IP Phone theft can compromise a Cisco CallManager system. This chapter also discusses the authentication and encryption mechanisms supported by CallManager, the roll of CAPF, MICs, LSCs, CTLs, and the CTL Client. This chapter covers the processes and protocols used for signaling encryption and media encryption.

Chapter 27, "Configuring Cisco IP Telephony Authentication and Encryption"—This chapter examines the steps to configure a Cisco CallManager system for authentication and encryption, the activation of the CTL Provider and CAPF services, the installation of the CTL Client, and configuring the IP Phones for a hardened security structure.

Chapter 28, "Introducing IP Video Telephony"—This chapter covers the functions and components of the Cisco IP video telephony solution, the connection of a video call, H.323 versus SCCP video signaling, the two factors in determining the bandwidth requirement for video, and video call admission control.

Chapter 29, "Configuring Cisco VT Advantage"—This chapter discusses the features and function of the VT Advantage, placing and receiving calls with VT Advantage, configuring the Cisco CallManager to support video, and the VT Advantage client installation process.

Chapter 30, "Introducing Database Tools and Cisco Unified CallManager Serviceability"— This chapter examines the database structure and replication status of broken database connection, the services provided by CallManager Serviceability, the CallManager Control Center, the CallManager Service Activation window, and the various tools used to monitor Cisco CallManager listed by function.

Chapter 31, "Monitoring Performance"—This chapter defines performance objects, covers the Microsoft Event Viewer and Performance Monitor, and the Cisco Real-Time Monitoring Tool.

Chapter 32, "Configuring Alarms and Traces"—This chapter identifies the functions of the Cisco CallManager Alarm interface, and discusses the configuration of alarms and traces, the trace analysis process, and the Bulk Trace Analysis tool.

хххіі

Chapter 33, "Configuring CAR"—This chapter discusses the usage, features, and operations of the CAR tool; the contents of CDR and CMR records; the three levels of CAR users and their reporting capabilities; the configuration of CAR system parameters, system schedule, and alerts; and the generation of user reports using CAR.

Chapter 34, "Using Additional Management and Monitoring Tools"—This chapter examines the use of SNMP, Syslog, and CiscoWorks ITEM in remotely managing and maintaining a Cisco CallManager system, the use of dependency records, the Password Changer tool, the Dialed Number Analyzer, and the Quality Reporting tool.

Finally, Appendix A, "Answers to Review Questions," contains the solutions to the review questions throughout the book.

This page intentionally left blank



Part I: Cisco CallManager Fundamentals

- Chapter 1 Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager
- Chapter 2 Cisco Unified CallManager Clustering and Deployment Options
- Chapter 3 Cisco Unified CallManager Installation and Upgrades


This chapter covers the following topics:

- An introduction to the Cisco Unified Communications strategy (formerly Cisco AVVID) and Cisco Unified CallManager technology
- An understanding of the placement of Cisco Unified CallManager in an IP telephony design
- The interaction between Cisco Unified CallManager and Cisco IP Phones
- Cisco Unified CallManager server platforms

СНАРТЕК

Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager

Although IP telephony might seem like the new, emerging technology in IT environments, it has actually been around for many years. As WAN and LAN data connections became more stable and the total amount of available bandwidth increased, legacy PBX vendors rushed to add IP processing functions to their chassis-based management systems. Cisco Systems also saw the writing on the wall and in 1999 unveiled both the Cisco 7900 series IP Phones and the Cisco Architecture for Voice, Video, and Integrated Data (AVVID) strategy for the future. This was also the year that Cisco announced Cisco Unified CallManager version 2.4.

A Cisco IP telephony deployment relies on Cisco Unified CallManager for its call-processing and call-routing functions. Understanding the role that Cisco Unified CallManager plays in a converged network from a system, software, and hardware perspective is necessary to successfully install and configure Cisco Unified CallManager. This chapter discusses Cisco Unified Communications and the Cisco Unified CallManager functions, hardware requirements, software requirements, and installation and upgrade information.

NOTE With the recent launch of the new Cisco Unified Communications portfolio, Cisco AVVID has become an obsolete term because it no longer accurately describes the breadth of Cisco's converged, unified communications offerings. This chapter still occasionally makes reference to Cisco AVVID in historical contexts, but for the most part uses the term Cisco Unified Communications. You might find them used interchangeably during this transition period.

NOTE Cisco has recently changed the name of the Cisco CallManager product to Cisco Unified CallManager to reflect the Cisco Unified Communications campaign. For brevity, this book mainly uses the shortened name of Cisco CallManager or just CallManager.

Cisco Unified Communications

When Microsoft announced their new .NET platform, there was a huge amount of confusion in the industry. Systems administrators did not know if they were to expect a new operating system, programming language, or company direction. The same effect happened when Cisco announced the Architecture for Voice, Video, and Integrated Data (AVVID), now known as Cisco Unified Communications. Network administrators did not understand if this was a new router type, IOS feature set, or marketing campaign. Cisco Unified Communications is not any of these things. Instead, it is a company strategy that provides the foundation for converged networks. The goal of Cisco Unified Communications is to create network equipment that has the capability to handle voice, video, and data traffic within a single network infrastructure.

Figure 1-1 shows the four standard layers of the Cisco Unified Communications voice infrastructure model: the infrastructure layer, which lays the foundation for network components; the call-processing layer, which maintains PBX-like functions; the applications layer, where applications that provide additional network functionality reside; and the client layer, where end-user devices reside.



Figure 1-1 The Cisco Unified Communications Model for Voice Networks

Each of the major areas of the Cisco Unified Communications architecture has a similar model focused around the technologies of voice, video, and data. The key points about the four standard layers of the voice model are as follows:

- **Infrastructure layer**—The infrastructure carries data between all network devices and applications and consists of routers, switches, and voice gateways.
- Call-processing layer—Call processing is physically independent of the infrastructure. Thus, a Cisco CallManager in Chicago can provide call control for a bearer channel in Phoenix.
- **Applications layer**—Applications are physically independent of call-processing functions and the physical voice-processing infrastructure; that is, they can reside anywhere within the network.
- Client layer—The client layer makes the voice applications available to the user, whether the end device is a Cisco IP Phone, a PC using a Cisco IP Communicator, or a PC delivering converged messaging.

At first, this might seem like just another model to commit to memory; however, understanding Cisco's design of this model allows you to make the most of your voice network. The OSI model creates a standard for communication across networks. In addition, it allows vendors to isolate network functionality and specialize in equipment working at a specific layer. Likewise, one of the huge benefits of using an IP telephony system over a PBX system is the open standards for protocols and equipment. A vendor could specialize and design devices that work only at the client layer of the Cisco Unified Communications voice model. These devices could use an open standard protocol to communicate with the Cisco CallManager at the applications layer.

NOTE Because of the flexibility of the Cisco IP telephony network, many organizations have created their own custom applications for the voice network. Cisco has made a Cisco CallManager Software Development Kit (SDK) freely available to aid in the process of creating custom Extensible Markup Language (XML) applications.

Understanding Cisco Unified CallManager

The vast majority of this CIPT book is focused on the core product that controls a Cisco IP telephony network: Cisco Unified CallManager. Cisco CallManager brings enterprise telephony features and functions to packet telephony devices. These devices include Cisco IP Phones, media-processing devices, voice over IP (VoIP) gateways, and multimedia applications. Additional data, voice, and video services, such as unified messaging, multimedia conferencing, collaborative contact centers, and interactive multimedia response systems, interact with the IP telephony solution through the Cisco CallManager application programming interface (API).

Cisco CallManager provides the following functions:

- **Call processing**—Call processing refers to the complete process of originating, routing, and terminating calls, including any statistical collection processes.
- Signaling and device control—Cisco CallManager sets up all of the signaling connections between call endpoints and directs devices such as phones, gateways, and conference bridges to establish and tear down streaming connections.
- Dial plan administration—The dial plan is a set of configurable rules that Cisco CallManager uses to determine call routing. Cisco CallManager provides the ability to create flexible dial plans for users.
- Phone feature administration—Cisco CallManager extends services such as hold, transfer, forward, conference, speed dial, last-number redial, Call Park, and other features to IP Phones and gateways.
- Directory services—Cisco Unified CallManager uses DC Directory as an embedded Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP) directory. This directory stores authentication and authorization information about users and is a standard feature of Cisco CallManager (it does not require any special configuration or installation). However, Cisco CallManager can also be integrated with a corporate directory such as the Netscape Directory Server or Microsoft Active Directory.
- Programming interface to external applications—Cisco CallManager provides a programming interface to external applications such as Cisco IP SoftPhone, Cisco IP Communicator, Cisco IP Interactive Voice Response (IVR), Cisco Personal Assistant, and Cisco CallManager Attendant Console.

Cisco Unified CallManager and IP Phone Interaction

Cisco CallManager provides the intelligence behind call-processing functions when integrated with Cisco IP Phones. These IP Phones are virtually a paperweight without the Cisco CallManager instructing them with what they should do. The Cisco CallManager uses the Skinny Client Control Protocol (SCCP, or Skinny) signaling protocol over IP to communicate with Cisco IP Phones for call setup and maintenance tasks. When the call is set up, Cisco IP Phones communicate directly using Real-Time Transport Protocol (RTP) to carry the audio.

TIP Most Cisco 7900 IP Phones ship with a software image, allowing them to use the Skinny protocol to communicate with the Cisco CallManager. Cisco has also made a Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) image that allows Cisco IP Phones to be used with a third-party management system. Cisco CallManager does not support controlling the IP Phones using the SIP image as of Cisco CallManager 4.1. However, Cisco has added this support in the Cisco CallManager 5.0 release.

You can better understand how Cisco CallManager performs call processing and signaling functions by tracking a basic IP telephony call, as shown in Figure 1-2.





In Figure 1-2, Party A (left IP Phone) wants to call Party B (right IP Phone). Party A picks up the handset and dials the number of Party B. In this environment, dialed digits are sent to Cisco CallManager, the call-processing engine. Cisco CallManager finds the address and determines where to route the call.

Using the Skinny protocol, Cisco CallManager signals the calling party over IP to initiate a ring back, and Party A hears ringing. Cisco CallManager also signals the destination phone to initiate ringing.

When Party B picks up the telephone, the RTP media path opens between the two stations. Party A or Party B can now initiate a conversation. Because the IP Phones manage this RTP media path themselves, the Cisco CallManager is able to move out of the call-processing functions for this call. The IP Phones require no further communication with Cisco CallManager until either Party A or Party B invokes a feature, such as call transfer, call conferencing, or call termination. Even if the Cisco CallManager were to fail during the course of the call, the RTP stream would continue until one of the parties involved in the call decided to disconnect the call.

TIP The Skinny (SCCP) protocol uses TCP port 2000, whereas the RTP bearer stream uses dynamically negotiated even UDP port numbers in the range from 16,384 to 32,767.

The Components of Cisco Unified CallManager

Cisco CallManager installs using an image-based procedure. The image expands and deploys the following foundation operating system components:

- Windows 2000 Server
- Microsoft SQL Server 2000
- DC Directory
- Cisco IP Telephony Backup and Restore System (BARS)

Cisco CallManager server relies on Microsoft Windows 2000 for its operating system and Microsoft Structured Query Language (SQL) Server 2000 for its database (both provided by Cisco Systems). The operating system version that Cisco provides is called the Cisco IP Telephony Operating System. For example, Cisco CallManager 4.1(2) requires Cisco IP Telephony Operating System Version 2000.2.6 (or later) and the latest Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System service release. The latest operating system updates and service releases can be obtained from Cisco using an authorized CCO login.

Cisco CallManager uses DC Directory as an embedded LDAP directory. This directory stores authentication and authorization information about users and is standard with Cisco CallManager (it does not require any special configuration or installation). Maintaining a user database for your IP telephony system is optional, as the phone system will work just fine without requiring users to log in to the system. However, if you want to deploy any of the advanced features such as Extension Mobility or the Cisco IP SoftPhone, user authentication is necessary. Authentication establishes the right of the user to access the system, whereas authorization identifies the telephony resources that a user is permitted to use, such as a specific telephone extension.

The Cisco Customer Directory Plugin allows you to integrate Cisco CallManager with one of the following enterprise directories:

- Microsoft Active Directory, available with Microsoft Windows 2000
- Microsoft Active Directory, available with Microsoft Windows 2003
- Netscape Directory Server, Versions 4.1 and 4.2
- Sun ONE Directory Server 5.x

The Cisco IP Telephony Backup and Restore System (BARS) can be used to back up Cisco CallManager. Cisco BARS is installed separately from Cisco CallManager.

Cisco Unified CallManager Servers

In the original 2.4 version of Cisco CallManager, you were able to install the software on any platform that you desired. By allowing this freedom, a level of hardware-based instability plagued the original versions of the Cisco CallManager software. To compete with the legacy PBX-based voice network, VoIP networks should maintain an uptime of 99.999 percent. To achieve this, Cisco now requires you to install Cisco CallManager on a server that meets Cisco configuration standards. For this reason, Cisco has collaborated with two server hardware manufacturers, Hewlett-Packard and IBM, to create Cisco Media Convergence Servers (MCSs). Cisco chose these platforms because they have proven their reliability in the industry over time. Table 1-1 provides the current hardware specifications for the Cisco CallManager MCSs at the time of this writing.

Platform	Space	Processor	CPU Equipped	CPU Maximum	Maximum Phones Per Server
MCS 7815-I1	Tower	Pentium 4 3060 MHz	1	1	300
MCS 7825-I1	1U Rack Mount	Pentium 4 3400 MHz	1	1	1000
MCS 7835-I1	2U Rack Mount	Nocona Xeon 3400 MHz	1	2	2500
MCS 7825-H1	2U Rack Mount	Nocona Xeon 3400 MHz	2	2	7500
MCS 7835-H1	2U Rack Mount	Pentium 4 3400 MHz	1	1	1000
MCS 7845-H1	2U Rack Mount	Nocona Xeon 3400 MHz	1	2	2500
MCS 7845-H1	2U Rack Mount	Nocona Xeon 3400 MHz	2	2	7500

Table 1-1 Cisco Media Convergence Server Platforms

All of these servers, with the exception of the 7815-I1, are rack-mountable and do not include a monitor, mouse, or keyboard. Cisco designed the Cisco MCS for local setup, rack mounting, and remote administration.

NOTE The higher-end Cisco servers (beginning with the MCS 7835-I1) also include redundant power supplies and hard disk configurations.

Summary

At the turn of the millennium, Cisco moved forward with a new company direction described in the acronym of AVVID: Architecture for Voice, Video, and Integrated Data. Under this new banner, all three methods of communication would collapse under a single network infrastructure. The evolved term to describe this converged, IP-based environment is now Cisco Unified Communications. Standing at the forefront of the voice technology is the Cisco CallManager, the Cisco call-processing system that controls and manages converged voice over data networks.

Cisco CallManager runs on a foundation of Windows 2000 and SQL 2000 and can integrate with many popular directory services for user authentication purposes. Ever since the 3.x versions of Cisco CallManager, Cisco restricted the hardware platforms capable of running Cisco CallManager to the MCS series. This ensures a consistent hardware platform to provide stable support for the critical voice services of an organization.

Review Questions

You can find the solutions to these questions in Appendix A, "Answers to Review Questions."

- 1. The Cisco Unified Communications strategy is primarily focused around what goal?
 - **a.** to create a new line of routers and switches equipped with increased processor and memory resources to handle a converged network environment
 - **b.** to design network equipment equipped with the hardware resources and software features to handle a converged network environment
 - c. to allow voice, video, and data to flow smoothly across the Internet
 - **d.** to upgrade WAN links between locations to a speed capable of handling increased network traffic
- 2. In which layer of the voice infrastructure model does the Cisco Unified CallManager reside?
 - a. infrastructure layer
 - b. call-processing layer
 - c. applications layer
 - d. client layer

- **3.** Which of the following functions are performed by the Cisco CallManager server? (Choose three.)
 - **a**. call processing
 - **b**. directory services
 - c. PBX integration and signaling
 - d. cial plan administration
 - e. RTP audio processing
- **4.** Which of the following protocols does the Cisco CallManager use to communicate with Cisco IP Phones?
 - **a**. H.323
 - b. MGCP
 - c. Skinny
 - d. SIP
- **5.** Which of the following functions is the Cisco CallManager responsible for when setting up a phone call between Cisco IP Phones? (Choose three.)
 - a. receiving dialed digits
 - b. initiating ring tones on dialed IP Phone
 - c. streaming RTP audio between devices
 - d. handling call-processing functions when the calling party presses the Hold button
- **6.** Which of the following software components constitute the foundation operating system of Cisco CallManager? (Choose two.)
 - a. Windows 2000
 - **b.** Windows 2003
 - **c**. SQL 2000
 - d. Exchange 2000
 - e. Solaris
- **7.** If you decide not to integrate Cisco CallManager into your company LDAP-compliant directory, what built-in option does Cisco CallManager provide to store user information?
 - a. DC Directory
 - **b**. Active Directory
 - c. LW Directory
 - d. Cisco LM Directory

- **8.** You have purchased a Cisco MCS 7825 server. What is the maximum number of Cisco IP Phones you will be able to support?
 - **a.** 250
 - **b**. 500
 - **c**. 1000
 - **d.** 2500
 - **e**. 7500
- **9.** Maintaining a user directory is essential to the day-to-day operation of the IP telephony network. (True/False)
- **10.** Cisco IP Phones can use which of the following signaling protocols? (Choose two.)
 - **a**. H.323
 - **b**. Skinny
 - c. SIP
 - d. MGCP

This page intentionally left blank



This chapter covers the following topics:

- The concepts and design strategies behind a Cisco Unified CallManager cluster
- The types of replication that occur in a Cisco Unified CallManager cluster
- Properly designing the Cisco Unified CallManager cluster for redundancy
- The four Cisco Unified CallManager deployment models

Cisco Unified CallManager Clustering and Deployment Options

Legacy PBX systems have quite the reputation for reliability. As a general track record, PBXs provide an uptime of 99.999 percent (known as the "five-nines" of reliability). This translates to an unbelievable 5.3 minutes of downtime per year! To match this standard of reliability, multiple Cisco CallManager servers are grouped into a cluster. Most administrators recognize the term "cluster" as an ability to allow multiple servers to act as one device, which is the type of clustering provided by Windows clustering services. The Cisco CallManager cluster operates quite differently.

After you understand the clustered relationship of Cisco CallManager, you can plan your deployment strategy using the four deployment models provided by Cisco CallManager. This chapter discusses the cluster relationship and deployment options provided by the Cisco CallManager and the options available to enterprises to deploy a highly available IP telephony network.

The Two Sides of the Cisco Unified CallManager Cluster

As a network administrator, you are accustomed to quite a bit of fiscal responsibility riding on your shoulders. Under the Cisco Unified Communications architecture, that responsibility has grown exponentially. Not only are you responsible for the operation of the data environment; you are now responsible for the company's voice network, which rides on top of this infrastructure. This voice network is critical to day-to-day business operations. Because of this, you should approach it just like any key network service: the more redundancy, the better.

A Cisco CallManager cluster is two or more servers grouped together to support a Cisco IP telephony network. The cluster relationship between Cisco CallManager servers provides redundancy and load balancing for the voice network. Cisco defines this cluster relationship in two ways: the SQL database structure and the intracluster run-time data.

The SQL Database Cluster

As discussed in Chapter 1, Cisco CallManager relies on Microsoft SQL 2000 as an information store for the data of the voice network. This data includes the phone extensions on the network, calling restrictions, route plan information, and so on. The database replication capability

provided by Microsoft SQL Server makes clustering possible by allowing the same database to be on multiple machines. Database replication makes it appear as if a single machine is handling call processing along with other functions of the voice network and ensures that standby processors (Cisco CallManager servers) can seamlessly step in and fulfill the functions if the primary processor fails. This SQL database replication also ensures that all clustered Cisco CallManager servers have access to the same information.

You must have at least two Cisco CallManager servers to obtain this redundancy, and one of these servers must be a publisher database server. The publisher database server manages the only writable copy of the Microsoft SQL Server 2000 database. The subscriber database servers maintain read-only copies of the database. You can have only one publisher server and up to eight subscriber servers per cluster. It is these database servers that are able to actively participate in the call-processing functions of the Cisco voice network. This SQL limitation is also a key factor in determining the maximum size of a cluster, which is covered later in this chapter.

When you make changes to the Cisco CallManager configuration, these changes are made directly to the publisher server database. The publisher then replicates these changes to the subscriber servers. When the publisher server is offline, the Microsoft SQL Server 2000 database automatically locks, and thus prevents any database changes. The IP telephony network continues to operate, but you will not be able to add or configure any devices that are managed by Cisco CallManager. The only exception to this rule is the Call Detail Records (CDRs), which record information regarding the calls occurring within the cluster. When the publisher is down, the subscribers store CDRs until the publisher comes back online, and then the subscribers update the publisher with the CDRs.

In Cisco CallManager Release 3.3 and later, a single cluster is capable of handling approximately 30,000 Cisco IP Phones. This cluster limitation does not restrict the size of the voice over IP (VoIP) network. By creating additional clusters, you can increase the network size. However, the more clusters you create in a network, the more management the network requires to operate.

NOTE The 30,000 IP Phone maximum cluster size is only possible if you are using the MCS-7845 servers throughout your cluster deployment.

Intracluster Run-Time Data

The second communication method that defines the cluster relationship between Cisco CallManager servers is the intracluster run-time data, which is also called Intra-Cluster Communication Signaling (ICCS). This type of communication encompasses the "happenings" of the cluster. For example, when a new Cisco IP Phone connects to the network, it registers with its primary Cisco CallManager. That primary Cisco CallManager tells all the other servers in the cluster, "Hey everyone, a new phone just registered with me! I've given it the extension 4003." (IP address 10.5.5.1 in this example). All the other servers now know to send calls directed at extension 4003 to the Cisco CallManager at the IP address 10.5.5.1, which, in turn, makes the Cisco IP Phone ring.

After the initial phone registration, the Cisco IP Phone sends keepalive messages to the primary Cisco CallManager server every 30 seconds and sends a TCP connect message (which is technically a TCP three-way handshake) to its secondary Cisco CallManager server to ensure it is online and ready to accept a device failover, if necessary. When the Cisco IP Phone detects the failure of its TCP keepalive messages with the primary Cisco CallManager, the device attempts to register with a secondary Cisco CallManager server. The secondary Cisco CallManager server accepts the registration from the device and announces the new registration (using intracluster runtime data) to all of the Cisco CallManager servers in the cluster.

NOTE If the Cisco CallManager service is ever stopped manually (through the Services Windows 2000 Control Panel or a system shutdown), the Cisco CallManager server will clear all of its active TCP connections with the IP Phones. This causes them to failover immediately to their backup server rather than wait for the keepalive failure.

Cisco IP Phone registration is just one example of intracluster run-time data. You will discover many other types of intracluster communication as this book introduces new concepts in upcoming chapters.

Cluster Redundancy Designs

Because the IP telephony network is critical to business operation, you should never configure a single Cisco CallManager to support any organization. You should maintain at least two Cisco CallManager servers for the voice network to support the network should one server fail. Smaller organizations (240 users or less) might decide to use Cisco CallManager Express, which operates on an IOS-based router platform. The number of Cisco CallManager servers you use typically depends on the server platform you purchase and your cluster design strategy. Chapter 1, "Introduction to Cisco Unified Communications and Cisco Unified CallManager," discussed the server platforms and the number of phones that each server model supports. This section discusses the proper way to use those server platforms to build a Cisco CallManager cluster.

1:1 Redundancy Design

In a 1:1 Cisco CallManager redundancy deployment design, you can have a dedicated backup server for each primary server. This design guarantees that Cisco IP Phone registrations will never overwhelm the backup servers, even if multiple primary servers fail. However, the 1:1 redundancy

design considerably limits the maximum cluster size and can be cost-intensive for the initial Cisco CallManager deployment.

Each cluster must also have a designated TFTP server. Depending on the number of devices that a server is supporting, you can combine this TFTP server functionality with the publisher or subscriber Cisco CallManager servers, or you can deploy the TFTP functionality on a separate, standalone server. The TFTP server is responsible for delivering IP Phone configuration files to each telephone, along with streamed media files, such as music on hold (MOH) and ring files; therefore, the TFTP server can experience a considerable network and processor load.

In the example shown in Figure 2-1, a Cisco 7835 Media Convergence Server (MCS) is used because each Cisco CallManager server installed on that platform supports a maximum of 2500 Cisco IP Phones.





The shading in the figure divides up the functions performed within a cluster. The lighter shading (outside the Primary/Backup server area) represents the server that is not participating in call processing. This is the SQL publisher server, which is also acting as a TFTP server. In cluster environments with less than 1000 IP Phones, the SQL publisher can also participate in the call-processing functions. However, in clusters larger than 1000 devices, you should isolate the SQL publisher because it will be quite busy handling updates to the SQL database and TFTP requests.

The darker shaded box (containing the Primary/Backup servers) represents Cisco CallManager servers handling the call-processing functions (intracluster run-time data) of the cluster. In the example showing cluster design for 2500 IP Phones, a single Cisco CallManager is the primary server, with a secondary server acting as a dedicated backup. The primary or backup server can also serve as the Microsoft SQL publisher and the TFTP server in smaller IP telephony deployments.

TIP Be sure you understand how the two types of intracluster communication apply to the Cisco CallManager cluster design. The publisher and subscriber relationship relates to the SQL database replication. The Primary and Secondary server roles (shown in Figure 2-1 as Primary and Backup) relate to the intracluster run-time relationship and device registration. The Primary and Backup servers will be SQL subscribers if you isolate the SQL publisher from call-processing functions.

When you increase the number of IP Phones, you must increase the number of Cisco CallManager servers that are required to support the telephones. Some network engineers might consider the 1:1 redundancy design excessive because a well-designed network is unlikely to lose more than one primary server at a time. With the low possibility of server loss and the increased server cost, many network engineers elect to use a 2:1 redundancy design. However, other engineers choose to deploy the 1:1 redundancy to ensure maximum uptime of the IPT network. In addition, you can load-balance your IP Phones between the primary and backup servers in a 1:1 redundancy design. If any one server fails, only half of the phones must failover to the backup server (which provides a faster failover process).

2:1 Redundancy Design

In a 2:1 Cisco CallManager redundancy deployment design, you have a backup server shared between every two primary servers, as shown in Figure 2-2. Although this design offers some redundancy, there is the risk of overwhelming the backup server if multiple primary servers fail. In addition, upgrading the Cisco CallManager servers can cause a temporary loss of service because you must reboot the Cisco CallManager servers after the upgrade is complete.

NOTE Figure 2-2 assumes that each Cisco CallManager server can support a maximum of 2500 IP Phones.





Network administrators use this 2:1 redundancy model in most IP telephony deployments because of the reduced server costs. If you are using a Cisco MCS 7835 (shown in the figure), that server is equipped with redundant, hot-swappable power supplies and hard drives. When you properly connect and configure these servers, it is unlikely that multiple primary servers will fail at the same time, which makes the 2:1 redundancy model a viable option for most businesses.

Because of tight budgets, some network administrators are forced into 3:1 and even 4:1 redundancy designs (three or four primary servers supported by a single backup server). Cisco does not support these designs because of the high risk involved.

TIP The Cisco CallManager architecture limits a cluster to nine servers (one publisher and eight subscribers) that have access to the SQL database. Only these servers can participate in call-processing functions. The redundancy model and server platform you choose has a huge impact on the total size of your Cisco CallManager cluster. Although it might be possible to create a cluster capable of supporting a tremendous amount of IP Phones by minimizing redundancy, Cisco TAC only supports a maximum cluster size of 30,000 IP Phones. If you reach this maximum cluster size, you will need to divide your network into multiple clusters.

Call-Processing Deployment Models

After you understand the concepts and design of a Cisco CallManager cluster, you can move on to the design of the organization IP telephony network. Cisco proposes four primary design models:

- Single-site deployment
- Multisite deployment with centralized call processing
- Multisite deployment with distributed call processing
- Clustering over the IP WAN

Single-Site Deployment

In a single-site deployment model, all Cisco CallManager servers, applications, and IP Phones are in the same physical location. A single Cisco CallManager cluster can support a maximum of 30,000 IP Phones. If you need to support more IP Phones at the site, you can implement multiple clusters within the single location and interconnect them through intercluster trunks (intercluster trunks are covered in Chapter 10, CallManager Route Plan Basics). Gateways that connect directly to the Public Switched Telephone Network (PSTN) handle external calls. If an IP WAN exists between sites, it is used to carry data traffic only; no telephony services are provided over the WAN. Figure 2-3 shows a typical network diagram of a single-site deployment.

Figure 2-3 Single-Site Cisco CallManager Design



Use the following guidelines for single-site deployments:

- You must understand the current calling patterns within the enterprise. How and where are users making calls? How many calls are intersite or interbranch versus intrasite? If calling patterns dictate that most calls are intrasite, use the single-site model to deploy IP telephony and make use of the relatively inexpensive PSTN. This design also simplifies the dial plans and avoids provisioning dedicated bandwidth for voice in the IP WAN.
- The IP Phones should use the G.711 coder-decoder (codec). Because the call will stay in the LAN, G.711 is a simple and high-quality codec for deployment. It does not require dedicated Digital Signal Processor (DSP) resources for transcoding (which means converting between codec types, such as between G.711 and G.729), and older voice-mail systems might support only G.711. You can allocate these DSP resources to other functions, such as conferencing

and Media Termination Point (MTP). Although the 64 kbps per-call bandwidth that G.711 consumes is higher than that of other commonly used codecs, it is not a concern in this design because the call is not traversing the WAN, where bandwidth is generally limited.

- All off-net calls will be diverted to the PSTN or sent to the legacy PBX for call routing if the PSTN resources are being shared during migratory deployments.
- Use Media Gateway Control Protocol (MGCP) gateways for the PSTN if the network does not require H.323 functionality. Centralize the gateway dial plans by using H.323 gatekeepers when deploying multiple clusters, rather than using MGCP gateways. In addition, PSTN gateway redundancy should also be a consideration because a single gateway failure could affect the inbound and outbound PSTN calls for an entire corporation.
- Deploy the recommended network infrastructure for high-availability connectivity options for telephones (inline power), quality of service (QoS) mechanisms, and other services.
- Do not oversubscribe Cisco CallManager to scale larger installations. In earlier software releases, Cisco used various schemes to allow the capacity of a system to be calculated using device weights, busy hour call attempt (BHCA) multipliers, and dial plan weights. With Cisco CallManager Release 4.0, this scheme has been replaced by a capacity tool to allow for more accurate planning of the system. The capacity planning tool is currently available only to Cisco employees. If your system does not meet the guidelines found in the Cisco IP Telephony Solution Network Reference Design, or if you consider the system sengineer. The Cisco IP Telephony Solution Reference Network Design (SRND) is found at: http://www.cisco.com/univercd/cc/td/doc/solution/esm/ (or can be browsed to through http://www.cisco.com/go/srnd).

Multisite Deployment with Centralized Call Processing

Figure 2-4 illustrates the multisite centralized call-processing deployment model with a Cisco CallManager cluster at a central site and a connection to several remote sites through a QoS-enabled IP WAN. The remote sites rely on the centralized Cisco CallManager cluster to handle call processing. Applications such as voice mail and interactive voice response (IVR) systems usually reside at the central site, thus reducing the overall cost of ownership and centralizing administration and maintenance. However, centralizing these application servers is not a requirement.



Figure 2-4 Multisite Deployment with Centralized Call Processing

Routers that reside at WAN edges require QoS mechanisms, such as low latency queuing (LLQ) and traffic shaping, to protect voice traffic from data traffic across the WAN (where bandwidth is typically scarce).

To avoid oversubscribing the WAN links with voice traffic (thus causing deterioration of the quality of established calls), the network might need a call admission control scheme. With the introduction of Cisco CallManager Release 3.3, centralized call-processing models can take advantage of automated alternate routing (AAR) features. AAR allows Cisco CallManager to dynamically reroute a call over the PSTN if the call exceeds the WAN bandwidth.

NOTE AAR is a feature specific to centralized call-processing environments and is discussed in depth in Chapter 14, Implementing Multiple-Site Deployments.

You can provide PSTN access for the voice network through a variety of Cisco gateways. When the IP WAN is down, the users at remote branches can place their calls through the PSTN using the Cisco Survivable Remote Site Telephony (SRST) feature that is available for Cisco IOS gateways that can provide call processing during the outage. Follow these best-practices guidelines when deploying a centralized call-processing model:

- Installations adopting the centralized call-processing deployment model are limited to huband-spoke topologies because the locations-based call admission control mechanism used in centralized call-processing deployments records only the available bandwidth in and out of each location.
- There is no limit to the number of IP Phones at each individual remote branch. However, the capability that is provided by the SRST feature in the branch router limits remote branches to 720 Cisco IP Phones using a 3845 router during failover. Smaller platforms have lower limits. SRST is covered in its entirety in Chapter 14, "Implementing Multiple-Site Deployments."
- Controlling WAN bandwidth utilization in a centralized call-processing deployment model is quite simple. Through the use of the Cisco CallManager Locations feature, the central Cisco CallManager cluster can decide if the remote-site call should use the WAN or PSTN for its connection.
- When communicating over the IP WAN, the G.729 compressed codec should be used to save considerable WAN bandwidth.

Multisite Deployment with Distributed Call Processing

A multisite distributed call-processing deployment has one or more call-processing agents at each site, and each site has its own Cisco CallManager cluster consisting of two or more servers. By separating these sites into different clusters, the Cisco CallManager servers do not share the SQL database and intracluster run-time data between sites. This requires some additional configuration because it will be necessary to trunk these sites together through an IP WAN. Figure 2-5 illustrates a typical multisite design using distributed call processing.

When deciding between a centralized or distributed call-processing model, you will usually base your decision on two factors: how many phones must you support at each site and what features does the company require to be available during failover. If you are using a smaller number of IP Phones and only require basic call-processing functionality, the centralized call-processing model might be most appropriate. If you are using a larger number of IP Phones or require more advanced features (such as call center applications), a distributed model might be more appropriate.



Figure 2-5 Multisite Deployment with Distributed Call Processing

Depending on your network design, an individual site in the distributed call-processing design might consist of the following:

- A single site with its own call-processing agent, which can be a Cisco CallManager or a third-party call agent
- A centralized call-processing site (and all of its remote sites) that the network views as a single site for distributed call processing
- A legacy PBX with a VoIP gateway or a legacy PBX that is attached using a time-division multiplexing (TDM) interface to a VoIP gateway

The distributed call-processing model requires all sites to be connected through an IP WAN. Cisco considers a site connected only through the PSTN to be a standalone site.

Multisite distributed call processing allows each site to be completely self-contained. In the event of an IP WAN failure or insufficient bandwidth, the site does not lose call-processing service or functionality. Cisco CallManager simply sends all calls between the sites across the PSTN.

The main benefits of this deployment model are as follows:

- Cost savings when you are using the IP WAN for intersite calls. The IP Phones and voice gateways can compress calls using the G.729 codec, reducing the bandwidth required for the audio and increasing efficiency over the standard PSTN connections.
- Toll-bypass savings when you are using remote gateways to drop off into the PSTN (known as "tail end hop off," or TEHO). For example, if one of your sites is located in Arizona, all the other sites can forward calls across the IP WAN to obtain toll-bypass when calling a number in Arizona.
- No loss of functionality during an IP WAN failure.
- Scalability to hundreds of clusters.

The multisite WAN with distributed call-processing deployment model is a superset of the singlesite and multisite WAN with centralized call-processing models. You should follow the bestpractices guidelines mentioned previously for single-site and multisite deployments in addition to those listed here, which are specific to this deployment model.

The H.323 gatekeeper or Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) proxy servers are among the key elements in the multisite WAN with distributed call processing. Both provide centralized dial plan resolution, with the gatekeeper also providing call admission control.

A gatekeeper is an H.323 device that provides call admission control and centralized dial plan resolution. Otherwise, the network administrator at each of the sites must configure a full dial plan to reach all devices on the network. Additional gatekeeper guidelines include the following:

- Cisco recommends that you use backup gatekeeper support to provide a gatekeeper solution with high availability. It is also recommended that you use multiple gatekeepers to provide spatial redundancy within the network.
- Cisco recommends that you use a single WAN codec. This design makes capacity planning easy and does not require you to overprovision the IP WAN to allow for worst-case scenarios.

SIP proxy servers provide resolution of dialed numbers (also called E.164 numbers) as well as SIP uniform resource identifiers (URIs) to enable endpoints to place calls to each other. Cisco CallManager supports the use of E.164 numbers only.

The following best practices apply to the use of SIP proxies:

- Provide adequate redundancy for the SIP proxies.
- Ensure that the SIP proxies have the capacity for the call rate and number of calls required in the network.

For more detail on bandwidth capacity planning and call admission control for each deployment model, refer to the Cisco IP Telephony Solution Reference Network Design (SRND) for Cisco CallManager 4.0 at: http://www.cisco.com/univercd/cc/td/doc/solution/esm/iptele/index.htm.

Clustering over the IP WAN

Cisco supports Cisco CallManager clusters over a WAN, shown in Figure 2-6.





Although there are stringent requirements, this design offers the following advantages:

- Single point of administration for users for all sites within the cluster
- Feature transparency; features such as call transfers and conference calls work seamlessly using an internal dialing scheme
- Shared line appearances over a WAN connection, which allows multiple phones to share a line instance
- Extension mobility within the cluster, allowing users to log in to remote phones and have their phone profile follow them

This design is useful for customers who require more functionality at remote sites than the limited feature set that is offered by SRST. This network design also allows remote offices to support more Cisco IP Phones than SRST in the event that the connection to the primary Cisco CallManager is lost.

Although the distributed single-cluster call-processing model offers some significant advantages, it must adhere to these strict design guidelines:

- Two Cisco CallManager servers in a cluster must have a maximum round-trip delay of 40 ms between them. In comparison, high-quality voice guidelines dictate that one-way end-to-end delay should not exceed 150 ms. Because of this strict guideline, you can use this design only between closely connected, high-speed locations (Metropolitan Ethernet would be a good example of this connectivity type).
- For every 10,000 Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCAs) within the cluster, you must support an additional 900 kbps of WAN bandwidth for intracluster run-time communication. The BHCA represents the number of call attempts made during the busiest hour of the day.
- Up to eight small sites are supported using the remote failover deployment model. Remote failover allows you to deploy the backup servers over the WAN. Using this deployment model, you can have up to eight sites with Cisco CallManager subscribers being backed up by Cisco CallManager subscribers at another site.
- SRST can function in this model but is not necessary to protect against Cisco CallManager failure. The telephones can failover across the WAN to other Cisco CallManager servers. This design may require significant additional bandwidth, depending on the number of telephones at each location.

NOTE If the WAN connection between sites fails, users will receive a fast busy signal for any intersite call. This might be confusing to users who are used to ringing followed by voice mail.

Summary

This chapter covered the key factors you must consider when you are initially designing a Cisco CallManager–based IP telephony deployment. The key to understanding your deployment options is first understanding the Cisco CallManager cluster relationship as defined by the Microsoft SQL replication and intracluster run-time data. The Cisco CallManager cluster provides redundancy and failover in an IP telephony environment. This redundancy can be implemented using the 1:1 server redundancy design, which offers the most redundancy available, or a 2:1 redundancy design, which balances the cost factors with overall redundancy. The chapter ended with a discussion of the four call-processing deployment models:

- Single-site deployment
- Multisite deployment with centralized call processing
- Multisite deployment with distributed call processing
- Clustering over the IP WAN

Review Questions

You can find the solutions to these questions in Appendix A, "Answers to Review Questions."

- 1. Which four of the following are IP telephony deployment models that are supported by Cisco? (Choose four.)
 - a. a single site with one call-processing agent
 - b. multiple sites with centralized call processing
 - c. multiple sites each with its own call-processing agent
 - d. a single cluster with distributed call processing
 - e. multiple clusters with no call-processing agent
- 2. A 1:1 redundancy design offers _____
 - a. increased redundancy; however, the increased server cost is often prohibitive
 - **b**. some redundancy; however, a server reboot is required after an upgrade
 - **c.** maximum uptime; however, no more than a 20-ms round-trip delay can exist between servers
 - d. high availability; however, you might overwhelm the backup servers
- **3.** A single cluster that spans multiple sites can have which two benefits compared to a branch office in a multisite WAN with a centralized call-processing deployment? (Choose two.)
 - a. completely self-contained individual sites
 - b. WAN bandwidth cost savings
 - c. a common dial plan across all sites
 - d. more IP Phone features during failover
 - e. scalability to hundreds of sites
- 4. Which two of the following enable the cluster to achieve redundancy? (Choose two.)
 - **a**. Windows clustering
 - **b**. database replication
 - c. at least two servers
 - d. directory access
- **5.** When configuring the SQL database relationship between Cisco CallManager servers, how many publisher servers should you configure for the cluster?
 - **a**. It depends on the server platform; you should have one publisher for each group of phones followed by a backup.
 - **b.** You should have only one publisher server for the entire cluster.

- c. You should have at least two publisher servers to provide database redundancy.
- d. You must configure a publisher for each subscriber you install.
- **6.** What is the maximum number of SQL subscribers that can exist in a Cisco CallManager cluster?
 - **a**. 3
 - **b**. 5
 - **c.** 8
 - **d**. 9
 - **e**. 12
- **7.** To support a centralized, multisite Cisco CallManager design, what feature should be employed at the remote offices?
 - a. QoS
 - b. SRST
 - c. Classification
 - d. SQL database replication
- 8. When using a multisite, single-cluster Cisco CallManager design, it is not necessary to employ SRST features to support the IP Phones in the case of Cisco CallManager failure. (True/False)
- **9.** When designing a distributed, multicluster Cisco CallManager design, what pieces of equipment might be necessary to ensure the IP telephony network maintains a consistent and centralized dial plan? (Choose two.)
 - a. H.323 gatekeeper
 - **b**. H.323 gateways
 - c. SIP proxy server
 - d. Cisco CallManager
- **10.** What is the maximum Cisco CallManager cluster size Cisco will support using Cisco CallManager 4.x?
 - a. 7500 IP Phones
 - **b.** 10,000 IP Phones
 - **c.** 12,000 IP Phones
 - d. 15,000 IP Phones
 - e. 30,000 IP Phones



This chapter covers the following topics:

- The requirements to perform Cisco Unified CallManager server installation
- Cisco Unified CallManager installation process
- Cisco Unified CallManager postinstallation procedures
- Cisco Unified CallManager upgrade process

C H A P T E R

Cisco Unified CallManager Installation and Upgrades

When Cisco first announced that the Cisco CallManager platform would use Microsoft Windows 2000 as a foundation operating system and Microsoft SQL 2000 as a database store, concern arose that the Cisco administrator would require a thorough understanding of these applications to successfully operate a Cisco IP telephony network. Although an understanding of these components can be useful for monitoring and troubleshooting purposes, it is not necessary for Cisco CallManager installation and setup. Cisco has done a fantastic job of "wizard-izing" and scripting the complete installation of both Windows 2000 and SQL 2000, hiding any complexity behind a friendly **Next** button.

The upgrade process of Cisco CallManager is not quite as friendly as a clean install; however, if you keep the potential pitfalls in mind, a Cisco CallManager upgrade can go quite smoothly. This chapter discusses both the clean install and upgrade process of Cisco CallManager.

Cisco Unified CallManager 4.x Clean Installation Process

A clean installation of Cisco CallManager has always been an extremely simple process. As you perform the Cisco CallManager installation, the automated setup process prompts you for the information that is necessary to build Windows 2000, Microsoft SQL Server 2000, and Cisco CallManager with a base configuration. The entire operating system installation process, excluding preinstallation tasks, takes approximately 25 to 45 minutes per server, depending on your server type. Installing Cisco CallManager, excluding pre- and postinstallation tasks, takes 45 to 90 minutes per server, depending on your server type.

Installation Disks

All Cisco MCSs and customer-provided servers that meet approved Cisco configuration standards ship with a blank hard drive. When you purchase a Cisco IP telephony application, you use the appropriate disks to install or upgrade the operating system and application:

Disk 1: Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Hardware Detection Disk— Checks the server and displays an error message if it detects an unsupported server. After you boot the server using the Hardware Detection CD-ROM, the automated installation process prompts for the correct CD-ROMs to use based on the type of hardware platform detected.

- Disk 2: Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Installation and Recovery Disk— Installs the operating system. Use only one of the server-specific Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Installation and Recovery disks that come in your software kit. Depending on your platform, the Operating System disc could be CD-ROM or DVD-based. After the operating system installation, a prompt instructs you to insert the appropriate Cisco CallManager software disk into the drive.
- Disk 3: Cisco CallManager 4.1 Software Disk— This disk installs the Cisco CallManager application on the server.

You might also receive a Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Upgrade Disk. Use this disk to upgrade the operating system on existing (not new) servers in the cluster. You do not need to use this disk if you are performing a new operating system installation.

Installation Configuration Data

As mentioned previously, the installation process for Cisco CallManager is automated by a stepby-step wizard. You will initially boot off the Hardware Detection CD-ROM, which will walk you through a wizard prompting you for the basic configuration data to get the server running. The process erases all data on the server hard disk. During the installation, you are prompted for the following items:

- New installation or server replacement—Choose this option if you are installing the Cisco IP telephony application for the first time, overwriting an existing installation, or replacing a server. To replace the server, you must store the data to a network directory or tape device before the operating system installation. Choosing this setting erases all existing drives.
- **Cisco product key**—Cisco supplies a product key when you purchase a Cisco IP telephony product. The product key is based on a file encryption system that allows you to install only the components that you have purchased. It also prevents you from installing other supplied software for general use. The product key consists of alphabetical characters only.
- Username and organization name—The system will prompt you for a username and an organization name to register the software product that you are installing. Do not leave the field blank. You can enter letters, numbers, hyphens (-), and underscores (_).
- **Computer name**—The system will prompt you to assign a unique computer name, using 15 characters or fewer, to each Cisco CallManager server. The computer name can contain alphabetic and numeric characters, hyphens, and underscores, but it must begin with a letter of the alphabet. Follow your local naming conventions, if possible. If you want to change the computer name after the application installation, you must completely reinstall the operating system and the application.

- Workgroup—The system will also prompt you for a workgroup name. A workgroup consists of a collection of computers that share the same workgroup name. Computers in the same workgroup can more easily communicate with each other across the network. Ensure that this entry, which must also be 15 characters or fewer, follows the same naming conventions as the computer name.
- Domain suffix—When prompted, you must enter the Domain Name System (DNS) suffix in the format "mydomain.com" or "mycompany.mydomain.com." If you are not using DNS, use a fictitious domain suffix, such as fictitioussite.com.
- **TCP/IP properties**—You must assign an IP address, subnet mask, and default gateway when installing a Cisco CallManager server. Changing the Cisco CallManager IP address after you install the software can be a tedious process, so be sure to plan accordingly.

CAUTION It is strongly recommended that you choose static IP information, which ensures that the Cisco CallManager server obtains a fixed IP address. With this selection, Cisco IP Phones can register with Cisco CallManager when the telephones are plugged into the network. Using Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) can cause problems, including failure of the telephony system.

DNS—You can identify a primary DNS server for this optional field. By default, the telephones will attempt to connect to Cisco CallManager using DNS. Therefore, you must verify that the DNS server contains a mapping of the IP address and the fully qualified domain name (FQDN) of the Cisco CallManager server. If you do not use DNS, use the server IP address, instead of a server name, to register the telephones with Cisco CallManager.

NOTE Before you begin installing multiple servers in a cluster, you must have a name resolution method in place, such as DNS, Windows Internet Naming Service (WINS), or local name resolution using a configured LMHOSTS file. If you use DNS, you must verify that the DNS server contains a mapping of the IP address and the hostname of the server that you are installing. This verification must take place before you begin the installation. If you use local name resolution, ensure that the LMHOSTS file is updated on the existing servers in the cluster before you begin the installation on the new subscriber server. You must add the same information to the LMHOSTS file on the new server during installation.

TIP Although it might seem tedious, Cisco considers the creation of LMHOST file IP address to hostname mappings on each Cisco CallManager server a better practice. Using DNS services introduces another point of failure for the voice network.

- SNMP community string—The Windows 2000 Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP) agent provides security through the use of community names and authentication traps. Cisco sets the community rights to none for security reasons. If you want to use SNMP with this server, you must configure it.
- Database server—You must determine whether you will configure this server as a publisher database server or as a subscriber database server through a radio button selection during the Cisco CallManager installation. This selection is permanent. You must reinstall the Cisco CallManager server if you want to reassign the database server type at a later date.

NOTE You must install a Cisco CallManager publisher server before you can install any subscriber servers. When you are configuring a subscriber database server, ensure that the server that you are installing can connect to the publisher database server during the installation. This connection facilitates the copying of the publisher database to the local drive on the subscriber server. You must supply the name of the publisher database server and a username and password with administrator access rights on that server. The installation will be discontinued if, for any reason, the publisher server cannot be authenticated.

New password for the system administrator—Cisco CallManager Releases 3.0 and later support password protection. A prompt at the end of the installation procedure will ask you to supply a new password for the system administrator.

NOTE For Cisco CallManager database replication, you must enter the same Administrator account password for the publisher and all of the subscribers in the cluster. The installation wizard will request this password.

Sample Configuration Data Worksheet

Table 3-1 shows the configuration information that you need to install the Cisco CallManager software on your server. You should complete all of the fields in the table, unless otherwise noted. You must gather this information for each Cisco CallManager server that you are installing in the cluster. Make copies of this table, and record your entries for each server in a separate table. Table 3-1 summarizes the data you should have available when you begin the installation.

Configuration	Data	
Cisco product key		
Username		
Name of your organization		

 Table 3-1
 Configuration Data for Cisco MCS

 Table 3-1
 Configuration Data for Cisco MCS (Continued)

Configuration	Data
Computer name	
Workgroup	
Microsoft NT domain (optional)	
DNS domain suffix	
Current time zone, date, and time	
DHCP parameters	It is recommended that you program a fixed IP address in TCP/IP properties for the server instead of using DHCP.
TCP/IP properties (required if DHCP is not used):IP addressSubnet maskDefault gateway	
 DNS servers (optional): Primary Secondary WINS servers (optional): Primary Secondary LMHOSTS file (optional) 	
 Database server (choose one): Publisher Subscriber If you are configuring a subscriber server, supply the username and password of the publishing database server: Publisher username Publisher password 	
Backup (choose one or both):ServerTarget	
New Windows 2000 administrator password	
Postinstallation Procedures

After you complete the Cisco CallManager software installation, the installation wizard will prompt you to change all passwords used in the Cisco CallManager cluster. These passwords should be the same on all servers you install into the cluster. In addition, many supporting services are running on your server that you might be able to stop. The fewer services you have running on your server, the more server resources you will have available to support the IP telephony network. In addition, running more services on the Cisco CallManager server introduces more security vulnerabilities for the underlying Windows operating system. You should stop all of the following services on both the Publisher and Subscriber servers in your cluster and set them to manual-start status unless they are otherwise needed on the system:

- DHCP client
- Fax service
- FTP Publishing Service
- Smart Card (unless using security tokens)
- Smart Card Helper
- Computer browser
- Distributed File System
- License Logging Service

By default, the installation wizard configures all Subscribers with Internet Information Server (IIS) Services running. This allows you to make changes to the cluster by accessing the web interface on your subscriber servers. Even though you are accessing the web interface on the Subscriber server, the changes are actually being made on the Publisher server (because it has the only writable copy of the database). In addition, allowing the web services to run on all Subscriber servers introduces more security risk as there are now multiple points of access for the Cisco CallManager administration interface. Because of this, it is usually best to save the Subscriber resources by stopping the web services on all servers except the Publisher. You can accomplish this by stopping the following services:

- Microsoft Internet Information Server (IIS) Admin Service
- World Wide Web Publishing Service

You can stop all of these services through the Windows 2000 Services console. To open this console, click **Start > Programs > Administrative Tools > Services**. When the console opens, Windows lists all services in alphabetic order. Right-click on the service you want to disable and choose **Properties**. In the Properties window shown in Figure 3-1, use the drop-down box to select

either a **Manual** startup or to **Disable** the service. These will take effect the next time you reboot the Cisco CallManager server. You can also choose to stop the service without restarting the server from this page.

TIP Because Cisco CallManager requires these services to be active when upgrading to new Cisco CallManager versions, setting them to a state of Manual is suggested.

Figure 3-1 Windows 2000 Service Properties

Services		•			
e IIS Admin Service	Properties (Local Computer)	? × atus	Startup Type	Log On As	
Serv General Los On	[Bassureu] Dependencies]	arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
	necovery Dependencies	arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
Service name:	IISADMIN	arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
Scivice ridine.	13ADMIN		Disabled	LocalSystem	
Display name:	IIS Admin Service	_	Disabled	LocalSystem	
		arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
Description:	Allows administration of Web and FTP services through	gh	Disabled	LocalSystem	
		1000	Disabled	LocalSystem	
Path to executa	ole:		Disabled	LocalSystem	
C:\WINNT\System32\inetsrv\inetinfo.exe		arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
	-	_	Disabled	LocalSystem	
Startup type:	Disabled	▼	Disabled	LocalSystem	
	Automatic	arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
	Manual		Manual	LocalSystem	
Service status:	Stated		Disabled	LocalSystem	
01-1		1 arted	Automatic	.\SQLSvc	
Start	Stop Pause Hesume		Manual	LocalSystem	
You can energifu	the start parameters that apply when you start the service		Manual	LocalSystem	
from here.		arted	Manual	LocalSystem	
		_	Disabled	LocalSystem	
Start parameters	:		Disabled	LocalSystem	
		arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
			Manual	LocalSystem	
	OK Cancel An	nlu [Manual	LocalSystem	
		arted	Automatic	LocalSystem	
	Portable Media Serial Number Service Retrieves	t	Disabled	LocalSystem	
	Print Spooler Loads file	5	Manual	LocalSystem	
	Protected Storage Provides	or Started	Automatic	LocalSystem	
	J				
Start 🕅 🖉 😭	Services				

Activating Cisco Unified CallManager Services

If you are installing Cisco CallManager for the first time, all services that are required to run Cisco CallManager automatically install on the system; however, none of the services are activated at the completion of the installation (except for the Cisco Database Layer Monitor service). Cisco CallManager Serviceability provides a web-based Service Activation tool that is used to activate or deactivate multiple services and to select default services to activate.

It is recommended that you activate only the required components for each server in the cluster. Each component that you activate adds to the server load.

If you are upgrading Cisco CallManager, the services that you have already started on your system will start after the upgrade.

Each service performs specific functions for the IP telephony network. Some services might need to run on a single Cisco CallManager server in a cluster; other services might need to run on all of the Cisco CallManager servers in the cluster.

CAUTION Be sure to activate at least the Cisco CallManager service before you apply any configuration to your Cisco CallManager server. Failure to do so can lead to unpredictable results, potentially leading to a server reinstall.

The following information briefly describes each available Cisco CallManager service:

- Cisco CallManager Service—Allows the server to participate in telephone registration, call processing, and other Cisco CallManager functions. Cisco CallManager Service is the core service of the Cisco CallManager platform.
- Cisco TFTP—Activates a TFTP server on Cisco CallManager. The TFTP service delivers Cisco IP Phone loads and configuration files to IP Phones, along with streamed media files, such as music on hold (MOH) and ring files.
- Cisco Messaging Interface—Allows Cisco CallManager to interface with a Simplified Message Desk Interface (SMDI)-compliant, external voice-mail system.
- Cisco IP Voice Media Streaming Application—Allows Cisco CallManager to act as a Media Termination Point (MTP), a conference bridge, a music on hold (MOH) server, and an annunciator. The voice network uses these media resources for feature functionality.
- Cisco CTIManager—Allows Cisco CallManager to support computer telephony integration (CTI) services and provides Telephony Application Programming Interface (TAPI) or Java Telephony Application Programming Interface (JTAPI) client support. Cisco CTIManager allows you to use applications such as Cisco IP SoftPhone.
- Cisco Telephony Call Dispatcher—Distributes calls to multiple telephone numbers (hunt groups). Cisco WebAttendant, Attendant Console, and Auto Attendant require Cisco Telephony Call Dispatcher (TCD).
- Cisco MOH Audio Translator—Allows Cisco CallManager to convert MP3 or WAV audio files into voice codec format used for MOH.
- Cisco Real-Time Information Server (RIS) Data Collector—Allows Cisco CallManager to write trace and alarm file information to a database, Microsoft Event Viewer, or alert an SNMP server.

- Cisco Database Layer Monitor—Monitors aspects of the Microsoft SQL 2000 database, as well as call detail records (CDRs).
- **Cisco CDR Insert**—Allows Cisco CallManager to write CDRs to the local database and replicates CDR files to the Microsoft SQL publisher at a configured interval.
- **Cisco CTL Provider**—Works with the Cisco Certificate Trust List (CTL) client to change the security mode for the cluster from nonsecure to secure (called mixed mode).
- Cisco Extended Functions—Provides support for some Cisco CallManager features, including Cisco Call Back and Quality Report Tool (QRT).
- **Cisco Serviceability Reporter**—Generates the following daily reports: Device Statistics, Server Statistics, Service Statistics, Call Activities, and Alert.
- **Cisco WebDialer**—Provides click-to-dial functionality by using a web page or a desktop application.
- Cisco IP Manager Assistant—Allows Cisco CallManager to support the Cisco IP Manager Assistant (IPMA), an application designed to allow a receptionist and manager to support special functionality between their phones.
- Cisco CallManager Extension Mobility—Allows Cisco CallManager to support extension mobility functions for roaming users. By using extension mobility features, you can assign users roaming phone profiles that activate when they log in to a phone. Works similarly to the roaming profiles in a Windows-based domain environment.
- Cisco Certificate Authority Proxy Function—Working in conjunction with the Cisco Certificate Authority Proxy Function (CAPF) application, the Cisco CAPF service can perform the following tasks, depending on your configuration:
 - Issues locally significant certificates to supported Cisco IP Phone models
 - Requests certificates from third-party certificate authorities on behalf of supported Cisco IP Phone models
 - Upgrades existing certificates on the phones
 - Retrieves phone certificates for troubleshooting
 - Deletes locally significant certificates on the phone

You must activate the Cisco CallManager services from the Service Activation web interface rather than the Windows 2000 Services control panel. To access this interface, perform the following steps:

- Step 1Open Internet Explorer, and go to https://<CallManager_IP_Address>/
ccmadmin. The <CallManager_IP_Address> is the IP address of the Cisco
CallManager server that is running IIS web services. Enter the
administrative username and password information.
- Step 2From the Application menu, choose Cisco CallManager Serviceability.The Cisco CallManager Serviceability interface appears.
- **Step 3** From the Tools menu, choose **Service Activation**. A window similar to the window shown in Figure 3-2 appears.

Figure 3-2 Cisco CallManager Service Activation Interface

Groco CallManager Serviceability - Service Activation - Microsoft Internet Explorer File Edit View Favorites Tools Help Unix				
Alarm Trace Cisco CallM For Cisco IP Telephony	Tools Application Help anager Serviceability	<u>eisco Susaus</u> atthu		
Service A	ctivation	Control Center		
Servers g[] callmanager	Server: calimanager Status: Service started Update Set Default			
	Service Name	Activation Status		
	NT Service			
	Cisco CTL Provider	Deactivated		
	 Cisco Serviceability Reporter 	Deactivated		
	Cisco Extended Functions	Deactivated		
	Cisco CDR Insert	Deactivated		
	Cisco Database Layer Monitor	Activated		
	Cisco RIS Data Collector	Deactivated		
	Cisco MOH Audio Translator	Deactivated		
	Cisco Telephony Call Dispatcher	Deactivated		
	Cisco CTIManager	Deactivated		
	Cisco IP Voice Media Streaming App	Deactivated		
	 Cisco Messaging Interface 	Deactivated		
	Cisco Tftp	Deactivated		
	Cisco CallManager	Activated		
	Tomcat Web Service			
	Cisco Extension Mobility	Deactivated		
	🗖 Cisco IP Manager Assistant	Deactivated		
	Cisco WebDialer	Deactivated		
🖁 Start 🛛 🗹 🍘 🗊	🖗 Cisco CallManager Ser		l	

Step 4Click the server that you want to configure from the Servers column. Next
click the services that you want to activate, and click the Update button.
(You will experience a slight delay.) The Service Activation window will
refresh when the process is complete.

TIP The method shown is just one way to access the Cisco CallManager Serviceability pages. If you are working on the Cisco CallManager itself, you can get there quicker by using the Windows 2000 Start menu (**Start > Programs > Cisco CallManager > Cisco CallManager Serviceability**) or by accessing https://<CallManager-IP-Address>/CCMService.

CAUTION Remember to activate the Cisco CallManager services from the Service Activation web interface. Activating the services through the Windows 2000 Services console will produce unpredictable and unstable results.

When you click the **Set Default** button in the web interface, the Service Activation tool chooses the services required to run Cisco CallManager based on a single-server configuration. This is the bare minimum to have a working Cisco CallManager–based IP telephony network. Because Cisco highly advises against single-server installations, you will most likely use the **Set Default** button in a lab environment.

Upgrading Prior Cisco Unified CallManager Versions

Cisco supports the upgrade to Cisco CallManager 4.1 from Cisco CallManager Release 3.3(4), 3.3(5), 4.0(1), and 4.0(2a). You must first upgrades earlier versions to one of these releases before you can upgrade to version 4.1.

NOTE Cisco CallManager 4.1(3) is the most recent version available at the time of this writing. If you are upgrading to a more recent version, refer to the specific upgrade instructions provided in the documentation for the more recent Cisco CallManager version.

If your server runs a version of Cisco CallManager Release 3.2 or earlier, you must first upgrade every server in the cluster to the latest version of Cisco CallManager Release 3.3 before you can upgrade to a version of Cisco CallManager Release 4.1. This is because the database structure and storage system changes from versions prior to release 3.3. (Earlier versions use SQL 7.0 rather than SQL 2000.)

Before you perform any upgrade procedures, it is strongly recommended that you install the latest operating system upgrade and service release, SQL service releases and hotfixes, and Cisco CallManager service release for the versions that currently run in the cluster. Cisco provides the service release and corresponding "readme" documentation on Cisco.com. To obtain these documents, go to http://www.cisco.com/kobayashi/sw-center/sw-voice.shtml (CCO login is required).

NOTE Cisco releases all service packs, hotfixes, and Windows operating system upgrades through the CCO website. Updates released by Microsoft should *never* be applied to the Cisco CallManager server as they can potentially cause the Cisco CallManager software to become unstable or to crash. Cisco guarantees that they will release any critical operating system patch within 24 hours of the Microsoft announcement. Noncritical patches are rolled up into a monthly update.

Cisco requires that you install Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Version 2000.2.6 (available from Cisco CCO) before you upgrade to Cisco CallManager Release 4.1.

CAUTION Because the foundation operating system components might change, the upgrade procedure will many times require you to back up the database on the Publisher server, reimage Cisco CallManager completely (using the clean installation method discussed earlier in the chapter), and then restore the SQL data from backup. If your version of Cisco CallManager requires this, be absolutely sure to install the newer backup software on the Cisco CallManager you are upgrading before you initially back up the database. Many times, the backup software changes between the 3.x and 4.x versions of Cisco CallManager. Because of this, you will usually find the latest version of the backup software in the /backup folder on the first Cisco CallManager Installation CD-ROM. If you do not install the new backup software before performing the Cisco CallManager upgrade, your backup file (and SQL data) might be unreadable in the new Cisco CallManager version.

Because many of the Cisco CallManager servers are equipped with RAID 1 configurations (mirrored hard disks), a common upgrade strategy is as follows:

Step 1	Remove the mirrored hard disk from the production Cisco CallManager server.
Step 2	Boot a lab server using the mirrored hard disk.
Step 3	Perform the Cisco CallManager software upgrade on the mirrored hard disk.
Step 4	During a scheduled window of downtime, reboot the production server using the upgraded, mirrored drive.
Step 5	The hard drive running the older Cisco CallManager version will become the new, backup mirrored drive.

By using this upgrade process, you can reduce the amount of voice network downtime to the amount of time it takes to reboot the Cisco CallManager server on the upgraded drive.

CAUTION The upgrade process described will cause a loss of any database changes performed from the time you have removed the mirrored drive until the time you reboot your Cisco CallManager server using the new version. Plan your upgrade windows accordingly.

Summary

This chapter covered the Cisco CallManager installation and upgrade process. When you purchase a Cisco MCS and Cisco CallManager software, you will receive a number of CDs (and even DVDs). Of those, you will only need three discs for the installation: the hardware detection CD, the operating system CD/DVD, and the Cisco CallManager installation CD/DVD. The installation itself is very automated and disk image-based. It requires very little knowledge of the foundation Windows 2000 operating system and SQL 2000 database store. After the installation completes, you should stop any unnecessary services running on your Cisco CallManager and start the Cisco CallManager services required for your network.

The upgrade process for Cisco CallManager varies wildly depending on the version of Cisco CallManager you are using. The process can be as simple as inserting the Cisco CallManager installation disk and following a step-by-step wizard or as complex as a complete reimage of all servers in the cluster. The key is to make sure that you have backed up all data from the SQL server with the newest version of the backup software available from the Cisco CallManager installation CD-ROM or the Cisco website.

Review Questions

You can find the solutions to these questions in Appendix A, "Answers to Review Questions."

- 1. Cisco CallManager uses which of these operating systems?
 - a. Linux
 - b. Windows NT
 - c. Windows 2000
 - d. Windows 2003

- 2. Why is it recommended that you stop IIS on the subscriber servers? (Choose two.)
 - a. enhances server call processing and redundancy
 - b. maximizes the number of devices in a cluster
 - c. disables the use of remote terminal services
 - d. helps prevent unauthorized access to the server
 - e. makes more resources available for critical voice services
- **3.** When you first install Cisco CallManager software, which CD-ROM should you use to boot the server to determine the correct CD-ROM to insert next?
 - a. Cisco CallManager 4.0 Software Disk
 - b. Cisco IP Telephony Server Operating System Hardware Detection Disk
 - c. Cisco CallManager Installation, Upgrade, and Recovery Disk
 - d. Cisco IP Telephony Server Backup and Restore Disk
 - e. Cisco Extended Services and Locales Disk
- **4.** If you are not using DNS, what must you configure to resolve server names for the Cisco CallManager installation process?
 - a. DHCP
 - **b**. backup server
 - c. LMHOSTS file
 - d. DNS reverse lookup
- **5.** Which of the following represent Windows services that you are able to stop on both Publisher and Subscriber servers? (Choose three.)
 - a. computer browser
 - **b.** DHCP client
 - c. database layer monitor
 - d. CTL provider
 - e. FTP Publishing Service
- **6.** If you want to set up a Cisco CallManager as a single-server configuration in a lab environment, what button can you click on the Service Activation web page to start the necessary services?
 - a. Single Server
 - **b**. Lab
 - c. Set Default
 - d. Minimal Service

- **7.** You have just completed the installation of a Cisco CallManager server, entered the new passwords for all accounts, and restarted. What is the next step you should take?
 - **a.** Configure the Cisco CallManager server settings to send IP address information to the IP Phones rather than hostname.
 - **b**. Activate the necessary services through the Service Activation web page.
 - c. Upgrade the backup software to the latest version.
 - d. Apply the latest operating system service pack from the Cisco website.

This page intentionally left blank

Part II: IPT Devices and Users

- Chapter 4 Cisco IP Phones and Other User Devices
- Chapter 5 Configuring Cisco Unified CallManager to Support IP Phones
- Chapter 6 Cisco IP Telephony Users
- Chapter 7 Cisco Bulk Administration Tool



This chapter covers the following topics:

- The basic features of Cisco IP Phones
- The entry-level Cisco IP Phones and their features
- The midrange Cisco IP Phones and their features
- The upper-end Cisco IP Phones and their features
- The features and functions of additional Cisco IP telephony endpoints, including video endpoints, conference stations, expansion modules for Cisco IP Phones, PCbased Cisco IP Phones, and analog adapters
- The six steps of the Cisco IP Phone startup process in the correct order
- The two audio codecs that are supported by Cisco IP Phones

CHAPTER 4

Cisco IP Phones and Other User Devices

Thus far, you have focused on the Cisco Unified CallManager server as the management system of the Cisco IP telephony network. It is now time to focus on the devices that Cisco CallManager controls. An important task of implementing and supporting an IP telephony deployment is managing the end-user devices, or endpoints. You should be able to distinguish among the various Cisco IP telephony end-user devices that you might encounter during the course of deploying and administering a Cisco IP telephony network.

This chapter explains the various models of Cisco IP Phones and how they work within a Cisco IP telephony solution. You will learn the basic features of Cisco IP Phones, analog adapters, and conference stations; the IP Phone power-up and registration process; and the audio coders-decoders (codecs) that are supported by Cisco IP Phones.

Cisco IP Phones

To the user, the telephone is the most visible component of the voice communications network. Cisco IP Phones are next-generation, intelligent communication devices that deliver essential business communications. Fully programmable, the growing family of Cisco IP Phones provides the most frequently used business features.

The majority of Cisco IP Phones provide the following features:

- Display-based user interface
- Straightforward user customization
- Inline Power over Ethernet (PoE)
- Support for the G.711 and G.729 audio codecs

Each Cisco IP Phone provides toll-quality audio. Because it is an IP-based phone, you can install it in any location on a corporate local or wide-area IP network. Some corporations have even made the Cisco CallManager publicly available on the Internet (with appropriate firewall platforms in place), allowing Cisco IP Phones to register from any location that has an Internet connection.

Entry-Level Cisco IP Phones

Cisco has produced a number of low-cost, entry-level IP Phones for a variety of business functions. Depending on user requirements, these IP Phones may function well for employees or for use only in public areas, such as lobbies or break rooms. Figure 4-1 shows the four entry-level Cisco IP Phones available at the time of this writing.

Figure 4-1 Entry-Level Cisco IP Phones



Entry-level Cisco phones provide the following common features:

- Display-based user interface (except Cisco IP Phone 7902G)
- G.711 and G.729 codec
- Single line (directory number [DN])
- Cisco inline power, powered patch panel, or local power option support via a power cube (the same power supply as the Cisco IP Phone 7910, 7940, or 7960)
- Visual message waiting indicator (MWI)
- One-way speakerphone (no built-in microphone) and no headset port

The following list briefly describes the major features of each entry-level Cisco IP Phone:

- Cisco IP Phone 7902G—The Cisco IP Phone 7902G is a single-line, entry-level, no-display business phone with fixed feature keys that provide one-touch access to the redial, transfer, conference, and voice-mail access features. The following briefly describes the major features of the Cisco IP Phone 7902G:
 - Fixed features: redial, transfer, conference, messages
 - Hard Hold key
 - Single 10-Mbps RJ-45 connection (no internal Ethernet switch)

NOTE Even though it might appear from the figure that the Cisco IP Phone 7902G has an LCD display, Cisco has equipped this low-end IP Phone with a piece of paper for a user to label key buttons and phone numbers.

- Cisco IP Phone 7905G and Cisco IP Phone 7912G—The Cisco IP Phone 7905G provides single-line access and four interactive softkeys that guide a user through call features and functions via the pixel-based liquid crystal display (LCD). Use this IP Phone for employees who do not need a full-featured phone or for a common area such as a hallway, manufacturing floor, break room, reception space, or office cubicle. The Cisco IP Phone 7912G includes an integrated Ethernet switch that provides LAN connectivity to a collocated PC (allowing only a single cable drop to each location). The following briefly describes the major features of the Cisco IP Phone 7905G and Cisco 7912G:
 - Pixel-based display (approximately five lines plus softkeys (on-screen feature buttons) and date, time, and menu title
 - Hard Hold key
 - Access to all standard IP Phone features through four physical buttons able to access multiple on-screen softkeys
 - Support for limited Extensible Markup Language (XML) script processing
 - Support for Cisco Skinny Client Control Protocol (SCCP), H.323 version 2 (Cisco 7905G only), and Session Initiation Protocol (SIP; compliant with RFC 2543)
- **Cisco IP Phone 7911G**—The Cisco IP Phone 7911G provides identical features as the Cisco 7912G with the following differences:
 - Support for IEEE 802.3af and Cisco proprietary inline power standards
 - Enhanced memory and XML application support similar to the Cisco IP Phone 7970
 - Support for enhanced security features
- Cisco IP Phone 7910G+SW—The Cisco IP Phone 7910G+SW is for common-use areas that require only basic features, such as dialing out, accessing 911, and intercom calls. Locations that might benefit from these limited features include lobbies, break rooms, and hallways. The Cisco IP Phone 7910G+SW includes a two-port switch for use in applications where you require basic IP Phone functionality and a collocated PC. The following briefly describes the major features of the Cisco 7910G+SW:
 - Ability to handle low-to-medium telephone usage
 - Single line with call waiting
 - Display area of 2 x 24 inches (5.08 x 60.96 cm)

- Cisco 10BASE-T/100BASE-T, two-port FastEthernet switch
- Basic features: line, hold, transfer, settings, messages, conference, forward, speed dial, redial
- Adjustable foot stand (flat to 60 degrees)
- Basic and optional wall mounting

NOTE Cisco has positioned the Cisco IP Phone 7912G to replace the Cisco IP Phone 7910G+SW. The Cisco 7910+SW should reach End-of-Life (EOL) in January 2006.

Midrange and Upper-End Cisco IP Phones

Cisco designed the IP Phones 7940G, 7941G and 7941G-GE, 7960, 7961G and 7961G-GE, 7970G and 7971G-GE, and 7985G to meet the demand for a corporate-level, full-featured IP Phone for medium-to-high telephone use. Figure 4-2 shows the midrange and upper-end Cisco IP Phones available at the time of this writing.

Figure 4-2 Midrange and Upper-End Cisco IP Phones



Cisco IP Phone 7985G



A description of features that are common to all midrange and upper-end IP Phones follows:

- Multiline capability
- Large pixel-based displays, which allow for the inclusion of XML and future features
- Integrated two-port FastEthernet or Gigabit Ethernet switch
- Built-in headset connection and quality full-duplex speakerphone (does not come with a headset)
- Information key for "online" help with features
- A minimum of 24 user-adjustable ring tones
- Adjustable foot stand (flat to 60 degrees) for desktop use or appropriate kit included for wall mounting
- SCCP and SIP support
- XML service support
- An EIA/TIA-232 port for options, such as line expansion and security access

NOTE The 79XXG-GE IP Phone models offer features identical to the 79XXG models with the exception of the integrated two-port switch. The 79XXG-GE models have integrated, two-port 10/100/1000 switchports, whereas the 79XXG models have integrated, two-port 10/100 switchports.

Additional details of these phone models follow:

- Cisco IP Phone 7941G and 7941G-GE—The Cisco IP Phone 7941G and 7941G-GE is for medium traffic and has these features:
 - Ideal for transaction workers who use cubicle phones
 - Two lines and programmable feature buttons, and four interactive softkeys
 - PoE compatible (Cisco prestandard PoE and IEEE 802.3af industry standard)
 - Increased memory for advanced applications
 - Higher resolution display
 - Backlit screen and line keys
- Cisco IP Phone 7961G and 7961G-GE—The Cisco IP Phone 7961G and 7961G-GE is for high or busy telephone traffic and has these features:
 - Ideal for professionals or managers

- Six lines and programmable feature buttons, and four interactive softkeys
- PoE compatible (Cisco prestandard PoE and IEEE 802.3af industry standard)
- Increased memory for advanced applications
- Higher resolution display
- Backlit screen and line keys
- Cisco IP Phone 7970G—The Cisco IP Phone 7970G is one of Cisco's current high-end devices featuring a high resolution, full-color display that can make a passerby look twice. It has the following features:
 - Ideal for executives, decision makers, and high-visibility areas of your organization
 - Eight lines and programmable feature buttons, and five interactive softkeys
 - Larger, color display with touch-screen capabilities
 - 3.5-mm stereo jack sockets for connection to PC-style speakers or headphones, and microphone
 - PoE compatible (Cisco prestandard PoE and IEEE 802.3af industry standard)
 - Advanced XML development platform for more dynamic applications
- Cisco IP Phone 7971G-GE—The Cisco IP Phone 7971G looks identical to the 7970G with the following differences:
 - Delivers Gigabit Ethernet bandwidth to the desktop with an integrated 10/100/1000 Mbps switch
 - "Feature identical" to the Cisco IP Phone 7970G
 - PoE compatible (IEEE 802.3af PoE only; does not support Cisco prestandard PoE)
- Cisco IP Phone 7980G—The Cisco 7980G harnesses next-generation video technology offering the following features:
 - Ideal for executives, decision makers, and high-visibility areas of your organization (such as conference rooms)
 - Provides a desktop video phone making instant, face-to-face communication possible using the H.264 video codec
 - Offers an integrated, two-port 10/100 Ethernet switch
 - Enables digital clarity video